Copyright Warning & Restrictions

The copyright law of the United States (Title 17, United States Code) governs the making of photocopies or other reproductions of copyrighted material.

Under certain conditions specified in the law, libraries and archives are authorized to furnish a photocopy or other reproduction. One of these specified conditions is that the photocopy or reproduction is not to be "used for any purpose other than private study, scholarship, or research." If a, user makes a request for, or later uses, a photocopy or reproduction for purposes in excess of "fair use" that user may be liable for copyright infringement,

This institution reserves the right to refuse to accept a copying order if, in its judgment, fulfillment of the order would involve violation of copyright law.

Please Note: The author retains the copyright while the New Jersey Institute of Technology reserves the right to distribute this thesis or dissertation

Printing note: If you do not wish to print this page, then select "Pages from: first page # to: last page #" on the print dialog screen



The Van Houten library has removed some of the personal information and all signatures from the approval page and biographical sketches of theses and dissertations in order to protect the identity of NJIT graduates and faculty.

ABSTRACT

DEVELOPMENT OF MICRO-SCALE AND AUTOMATED MEMBRANE EXTRACTION SYSTEMS FOR WATER ANALYSIS

by

Xiaoyan Wang

Monitoring of trace level contaminants in water involves the extraction and enrichment of analytes. Over the years several techniques have been developed for this purpose. Currently there is an urgent need for the development of micro-scale extraction techniques that can lead to simple, fast trace analysis. Automated instruments that can be used for continuous, on-line analysis are also important. Membrane extraction can address both these needs, because it can be carried out in a continuous fashion and can also be miniaturized. This research addresses these two aspects of membrane extraction for the next generation of sample preparation.

Micro-Scale Membrane Extraction:

Micro-scale hollow fiber membrane extraction was studied for extraction and preconcentration of non-polar analytes as well as haoacetic acids in water. They represent two important classes of pollutants. The goal was to optimize solvent systems to provide high enrichment and reproducible results. The concept of using a barrier film as a means of providing a diffusional barrier on the membrane fiber was developed. It was found to play an important role by protecting the organic acceptor from migration, resulting in much less acceptor loss. The analytes were extracted from water sample without any pretreatment into an organic acceptor via an organic layer on the membrane (referred to as barrier film). The concentrated extract was analyzed by HPLC and the separation was achieved within 12 minutes. Enrichment factors as high as 4555 were obtained in a 60-

minute extraction. This represented a 27 times enhancement over that has been preiously published in the literature. Detection limits were at low to ppt level with RSDs between 1.60 and 7.65%. Large linear dynamic ranges with good linearity (R^2 between 0.9870 and 0.9997) were achieved. The implementation of a barrier film represents a major development in the area of membrane based microextraction because it allows a wide variety of solvents to be used and also the use of rigorous extraction conditions.

Micro-fluidic devices were designed and fabricated for analyte enrichment. The analytical approach is based on supported liquid membrane extraction (SLME) followed by direct HPLC-UV detection without any derivatization. Channel dimensions and the flow rates affected enrichment factors and extraction efficiencies. Enrichment factors (EF) as high as 54 were obtained on a 2×2 cm extraction module. Large linearity ranges with good linearity (R² between 0.9895 and 0.9996), high precisions (RSD between 3.56 and 8.54%) and detection limit as low as 2 ng/mL were obtained.

Automated, On-line Membrane Extraction:

On-line extraction involves the continuous introduction of water on the feed side of the membrane and continuous enrichment of analytes on the permeate side. In fact membranes represent the only extraction media where such a continuous process is possible. Two different extraction approaches were investigated. The first was for realtime monitoring of haloacetic acids in water, and the second was for on-line liquid-liquid membrane extraction followed by membrane concentration.

Hollow fiber liquid-liquid membrane extraction (LLME) and SLME followed by on-line HPLC-UV detection were developed for continuous monitoring of the nine HAAs. With continuous LLME, seven halo-acetic acids could be analyzed and EF was around 50. All the nine acids could be extracted and quantified by continuous SLME. Experiments with laboratory standards demonstrated that EF and extraction efficiency could be as high as 500 and 54%, respectively. Relative standard deviations based on seven replicates were between 3.3 and 10.3 %, and the MDLs were at sub-ppb levels.

A total analytical system (TAS) was developed by interfacing continuous membrane extraction, pervaporation and on-line HPLC-UV detection. Organics from a water sample were extracted into an organic solvent, and then concentrated via pervaporation prior to HPLC-UV detection. Factors affecting the system performance were studied. With optimized experimental parameters enrichment factors as high as 192 were obtained, the method detection limits were at low ng/mL levels, and the precisions were better than 5%.

DEVELOPMENT OF MICRO-SCALE AND AUTOMATED MEMBRANE EXTRACTION SYSTEMS FOR WATER ANALYSIS

by Xiaoyan Wang

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of New Jersey Institute of Technology and Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey - Newark In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Environmental Science

Department of Chemistry and Environmental Science

August 2005

Copyright © 2005 by Xiaoyan Wang ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

APPROVAL PAGE

DEVELOPMENT OF MICRO-SCALE AND AUTOMATED MEMBRANE EXTRACTION SYSTEMS FOR WATER ANALYSIS

Xiaoyan Wang

Dr. Somenath Mitra, Dissertation Advisor Professor, Director of Environmental Science Program,	Date
Department of Gremistry and Environmental Science, NJ11	
Dr. Edgardo T. Farinas, Committee Member Assistant Professor, Department of Chemistry and Environmental Science, NUT	Date
Assistant i fotossol, Department of Chemistry and Environmental Science, 1911	
Dr. Zafar Iqbal; Committee Member Research Professor. Department of Chemistry and Environmental Science. NJIT	Date
Dr. Pradyot Patnaik, Committee Member Laboratory Director, Interstate Environmental Commission, New York	Date
Dr. Daniel J. Watts, Committee Member Professor, President of NUHEPS and Executive Director of the Otto H. York Cen	Date ter for

Professor, President of NJHEPS and Executive Director of the Otto H. York Center for Environmental Engineering and Science, NJIT

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

Author: Xiaoyan Wang

Degree: Doctor of Philosophy

Date: August 2005

Undergraduate and Graduate Education:

- Doctor of Philosophy in Environmental Science, New Jersey Institute of Technology, Newark, New Jersey, U.S., 2005
- Bachelor of Science in Chemical Physics, University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei, Anhui, China, 1998

Major: Environmental Science

Selected Publications and Presentations:

Xiaoyan Wang and Somenath Mitra, Enhancing Micro-scale Membrane Extraction by Implementing A Barrier Film, *Analytical Chemistry*, (2005), submitted.

Xiaoyan Wang, Dawen Kou and Somenath Mitra, Continuous On-line Monitoring of Haloacetic Acids via Membrane Extraction, Journal of Chromatography A, 1089 (2005), 39-44.

Xiaoyan Wang, Chutarat Saridara and Somenath Mitra, Microfluidic Supported Liquid Membrane Extraction, *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 543 (2005), 92-98.

Xiaoyan Wang and Somenath Mitra,

Development of a Total Analytical System (TAS) by Interfacing Membrane Extraction, Pervaporation and High-Performance Liquid Chromatography, *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1068 (2005), 237-242.

Dawen Kou, Xiaoyan Wang and Somenath Mitra,

Supported Liquid Membrane Microextraction with High-Performance Liquid Chromatography-UV Detection for Monitoring Trace Haloacetic Acids in Water, Journal of Chromatography A, 1055 (2004), 63-69. Xiaoyan Wang, Dawen Kou and Somenath Mitra,

Continuous, On-line Monitoring of Haloacetic Acids via Membrane Extraction, 44th Annual Eastern Analytical Symposium, November 14-17, 2005, Somerset, NJ.

Xiaoyan Wang, Chutarat Saridara and Somenath Mitra, Microfluidic Supported Liquid Membrane Extraction, 229th ACS National Meeting, March 13-17, 2005, San Diego, CA.

Xiaoyan Wang and Somenath Mitra,

Development of a Total Analytical System (TAS) by Interfacing Membrane Extraction, Pervaporative Concentration and Detection, 43rd Annual Eastern Analytical Symposium, November 15-18, 2004, Somerset, NJ.

Somenath Mitra, Xiaoyan Wang and Dawen Kou,

Supported Liquid Membrane Micro-Extraction (SLMME) for Monitoring Trace Acidic Analytes, 227th ACS National Meeting, March 28-April 1, 2004, Anaheim, CA.

Somenath Mitra, Dawen Kou and Xiaoyan Wang,

Supported Liquid Membrane Micro-Extraction (SLMME) with HPLC detection for Monitoring Trace Haloacetic Acids in Water, 42nd Annual Eastern Analytical Symposium, November 17-20, 2003, Somerset, NJ.

Somenath Mitra, Dawen Kou and Xiaoyan Wang,

Interfacing Membrane Extraction with HPLC for Continuous On-line Monitoring, 42nd Annual Eastern Analytical Symposium, November 17-20, 2003, Somerset, NJ.

Edmund J. Bishop, Dawen Kou, Xiaoyan Wang and Somenath Mitra, Supported Liquid Membrane Micro-Extraction (SLMME) for the Determination of Trace Organic Acids, 26th International Symposium on Capillary Chromatography and Electrophoresis, May 18-22 2003, Las Vegas, NV. To my husband, Yan Xu; parents, Zhixiang Wang and Xuefeng Shao.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

I am deeply indebted to Dr. Somenath Mitra, my dissertation advisor, for his constant support, guidance and encouragement on my work, and for many valuable discussions and suggestions. I am grateful to Drs. Farinas, Iqbal, Patnaik, and Watts for serving on my dissertation committee, and offering much help and valuable advice.

Part of this work is supported by US Geological Survey-New Jersey Water Resource Research Institute (2003NJ43B). Dr. K.K. Sirkar and the Center for Membrane Technology at New Jersey Institute of Technology, Newark, NJ, US are thanked for generously providing hollow fiber membranes for this research. I am also very thankful to Mr. Yogesh Gandhi for his helpful assistance during the whole research, and Mr. John Hoinowski, who help machine the microfluidic SLM devices.

Special thanks go to the Department of Chemistry and Environmental Science for providing Teaching Assistantships. I greatly appreciate the help that Dr. Ronald Kane and Ms. Clarisa Gonzalez, as well as the staff of the Graduate Studies Office and the Office of International Students and Faculty have offered to me during my study at NJIT. I would also like to thank my colleagues: Dr. Dawen Kou, Dr. Chutarat Saridara, Dr. Roman Brukh, Edmund Bishop, Mahesh Karwa, Kamilah Hylton and Yuhong Chen for their friendship, assistance and suggestions.

I am grateful to my husband, Yan, for his love, care and support throughout these years. I am also grateful to my parents, Zhixiang Wang and Xuefeng Shao, parents-inlaw, Jingshan Xu and Ximin Lu, for their love and support.

vii

С	hapter	Page
1	INTRODUCTION	1
	1.1 Water Analysis and Sample Preparation	1
	1.1.1 Water Analysis	1
	1.1.2 Sample Preparation	2
	1.1.3 Conventional Sample Preparation Methods	2
	1.1.4 Alternative Sample Preparation Methods	4
	1.2 Membrane Technology	6
	1.2.1 Membrane and Membrane Technology	6
	1.2.2 Application of Membrane Technology	7
	1.3 Membrane Extraction	9
	1.3.1 Supported Liquid Membrane Extraction (SLME)	10
	1.3.3 Liquid-liquid Membrane Extraction (LLME)	14
	1.3.3 Applications	16
	1.4 Membrane Modules	18
2	RESEARCH OBJECTIVES	21
3	SOLVENT SYSTEMS FOR MICRO-SCALE MEMBRANE EXTRACTION	24
	3.1 Implementation of Barrier Fluid in Hollow Fiber Microextraction	24
	3.1.1 Introduction	24
	3.1.2 Experimental Section	26
	3.1.2.1 Reagents	26
	3.1.2.2 Apparatus and Procedures	27

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

C	hapter	Page
	3.1.2.3 Chromatographic Separation	28
	3.1.3 Results and Discussion	29
	3.1.3.1 Mass Transfer	29
	3.1.3.2 Barrier Film	29
	3.1.3.3 Stirring Effect	35
	3.1.3.4 Acceptor Selection	35
	3.1.3.5 Extraction Time	37
	3.1.3.6 Analytical Performance	38
	3.1.3.7 Analysis of Real World Drinking Water	40
	3.1.4 Conclusion	40
	3.2 Supported Liquid Membrane Microextraction of Haloacetic Acids	41
	3.2.1 Haloacetic Acids	41
	3.2.2 Supported Liquid Membrane Microextraction	43
4	MICROFLUIDIC SUPPORTED LIQUID MEMBRANE EXTRACTION	48
	4.1 Introduction	48
	4.2 Experimental Section	50
	4.2.1 Reagents	50
	4.2.2 Experimental System and Microfluidic SLM Modules	50
	4.2.3 Procedures	54
	4.3 Results and Discussion	55

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

С	hapter	Page
	4.3.1 The Effect of Acceptor to Donor Ratio	56
	4.3.2 Static Versus Dynamic Acceptor	57
	4.3.3 Effect of the Flow Rates	58
	4.3.4 Analytical Performance	65
	4.4 Conclusion	67
5	CONTINUOUS, ON-LINE MONITORING OF HALOACETIC ACIDS VIA MEMBRANE EXTRACTION	69
	5.1 Introduction	69
	5.2 Experimental Section	70
	5.2.1 Continuous Liquid-Liquid Membrane Extraction	71
	5.2.2 Continuous Supported Liquid Membrane Extraction	73
	5.3 Results and Discussion	73
	5.3.1 Continuous Liquid-Liquid Membrane Extraction	73
	5.3.2 Continuous Supported Liquid Membrane Extraction	74
	5.3.3 Analytical Performance of Continuous SLME	80
	5.4 Conclusion	84
6	INTERFACING MEMBRANE EXTRACTION, PERVAPORATION AND HPLC DETECTION INTO AN AUTOMATED TOTAL ANALYTICAL SYSTEM	85
	6.1 Introduction	85
	6.2 Experimental Section	87
	6.2.1 Experimental System	87

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

Chapter	Page
6.2.2 Membrane Module Construction	88
6.2.3 Reagents	89
6.2.4 Chromatographic Separation	89
6.2.5 Three Experimental Modes	91
6.3 Results and Discussion	91
6.3.1 Extraction Efficiency and Enrichment Factor	93
6.3.2 Comparison of the EF in the Three Experimental Modes	94
6.3.3 Influence of the Water Sample Flow Rate	95
6.3.4 Influence of Nitrogen Flow Rate in the Pervaporation Module	97
6.3.5 Influence of the Acceptor Flow Rate	98
6.3.6 Analytical Performance	100
6.4 Conclusion	102
REFERENCES	103

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.1	Phases of the Three Types of Membrane Extraction	10
3.1	The Effect of Barrier Film on Enrichment Factor and Acceptor Loss	32
3.2	Analytical Performance	39
3.3	Names, Abbreviation and Properties of Nine HAAs	42
3.4	Comparison of LDR and MDL Before and After Modification	47
4.1	Dimensions of the Three Microfluidic SLM Modules	53
4.2	Static versus Dynamic Extraction using Module B	58
4.3	Analytical Performance of Module B	67
5.1	Analytical Performance of Continuous SLME-HPLC	82

LIST	OF	FIG	URES
------	----	-----	------

Figure		Page
1.1	Concept of membrane separation [35]	6
1.2	The concept of SLME of organic acids	12
1.3	Schematic diagram of a continuous LLME [61]	15
1.4	Schematic diagram of flat sheet membrane module	18
1.5	Hollow fiber membrane module	19
1.6	Off-line membrane extraction setup	20
3.1	Photographs of the hollow fiber microextraction	28
3.2	Mass transfer through barrier film in hollow fiber based microextraction.	31
3.3	Chromatograms from LLMME with and without n-decane as the barrier film, toluene was used as the acceptor. (b) Chromatogram from LLMME with n-decane as the acceptor and the barrier fluid. The peaks are: 1. naphthalene, 2. fluorene, 3. acenaphthene, 4. phenanthrene, 5. anthracene, and 6. pyrene.	33
3.4	Acceptor loss as a function of extraction time. The donor was 250 mL, 0.1 μ g/mL of the six PAHs in DI water. The acceptor was 30 μ L toluene, and the stirring level was set at 5 (arbitrary units)	34
3.5	Effect of stirring level on (a) acceptor loss, and (b) on peak area of PAHs (toluene as the acceptor and n-decane as the barrier film)	36
3.6	Comparison of peak area of PAHs using different acceptor (barrier film: n-decane)	37
3.7	Effect of extraction time on peak area	38
3.8	Schematic diagram of SLMME setup [29]	43
3.9	Chromatogram of nine HAAs in reagent water after SLMME (before method modification). The concentrations were: MCAA at 40 ppb, MBAA at 10 ppb, DCAA at 0.8 ppb, and the other six HAAs at 0.4 ppb	45

LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

	(Continued)		
Figure		Page	
3.10	Overlay of chromatograms (after modification). A: SLMME of spiked water sample containing 8.4 ppb MCAA, 2.4 ppb DCAA, 4.4ppb MBAA, and the other 6 HAAs at 0.4 ppb each; B: direct injection of a standard solution containing nine HAAs at 1ppm each; and C: SLMME of a blank (reagent water). The numbered peaks in the chromatograms are: 1. MCAA, 2. DCAA, 3. MBAA, 4. BCAA, 5. DBAA, 6. TCAA, 7. BDCAA, 8. CDBAA, and 9. TBAA	46	
4.1	Schematic diagram of microfluidic SLME	51	
4.2	Photograph of microfluidic SLME (Module C)	52	
4.3	 Details of the microfluidic SLM modules: a. Microfluidic SLM module showing the acceptor and the donor channels with the membrane in between. b. Cross-sectional view of the two channels (Module C). c. Photograph of the micro channels (Module C), a U.S. quarter is presented for size comparison. 	53	
4.4	The effect of acceptor-to-donor ratio on the enrichment factor, the donor flow rate was 0.126 ml/min and the acceptor was stagnant for 30 min.	57	
4.5	EF and EE% as a function of donor flow rate with Module B, the acceptor flow rate was kept constant at 4.4 μ L/min	59	
4.6	EF and EE (%) as a function of donor flow rate with Module C, the acceptor flow rate was kept constant at 2.64 μ L/min	60	
4.7	EF and EE% as a function of acceptor flow rate with Module B, the donor flow rate was kept constant at 0.504 ml/min	62	
4.8	EF and EE (%) as a function of acceptor flow rate with Module C, the donor flow rate was kept constant at 0.126 mL/min	63	
4.9	Peak area as a function of experiment running time, the donor flow rate was 0.504 ml/min and the acceptor flow rate was 2.64 μ l/min	64	
4.10	HPLC analysis of HAAs: a) Chromatogram of a standard containing 10 μ g/mL of the nine HAAs, b) Chromatogram after microfluidic-SLME of a water sample containing 1 μ g/mL of nine HAAs	66	

LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Figure		Page
5.1	Schematic diagram of continuous membrane extraction followed by HPLC-UV detection	72
5.2	EF as a function of acceptor collecting time, the donor was flowed at 1 ml/min for 60 minutes, while the acceptor was kept stagnant in the membrane lumens. After the extraction the acceptor was pumped to flow at 0.1 ml/min. The acceptor exiting the membrane module was collected at 1 st , 2 nd , 3 rd and 4 th minute.	75
5.3	EF as a function of acceptor flow rate, the donor flow rate was kept constant at 1 ml/min	76
5.4	EE (%) as a function of acceptor flow rate, the donor flow rate was kept constant at 1 ml/min	77
5.5	EF as a function of water sample (Donor) flow rate, the flow rate of acceptor was kept constant at 0.005 ml/min	78
5.6	EE (%) as a function of water sample (Donor) flow rate, the flow rate of acceptor was kept constant at 0.005 ml/min	79
5.7	Chromatogram of continuous SLME of a water sample (pH 1.9) containing 80 ng/mL (ppb) nine HAAs: 1: MCAA, 2: DCAA, 3: MBAA, 4: BCAA, 5: DBAA, 6: TCAA, 7: BDCAA, 8: CDBAA, and 9: TBAA. The water sample flow rate was 4 mL/min. The acceptor was 0.05 M tris buffer (pH 8.7) at a flow rate of 0.005 mL/min. Injections were made every 15 min.	81
5.8	Chromatogram of continuous SLME of a water sample (PH 1.9) containing: (1) 21 ppb MCAA, (2) 1 ppb DCAA, (3) 3 ppb MBAA, (4) 1 ppb BCAA, (5) 1ppb DBAA, (6) 1 ppb TCAA, (7) 1 ppb BDCAA, (8) 1 ppb CDBAA, and (9) 1 ppb TBAA. The donor flow rate was 4 ml/min. The acceptor was 0.05 M tris buffer (PH 8.7) with a flow rate of 0.005 ml/min. I1: Injection 1, I2: Injection 2	83
6.1	On-line interfacing membrane extraction, pervaporation and HPLC-UV detection into a TAS	90
6.2	The concept of membrane extraction and pervaporation	92

LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

	Page
EF, EE (%) & Solvent loss (%) as a function of flow rate of the water sample (0.1 μ g/mL Nap and Bph). The extractant flowed at 0.1 mL/min. This was operated in Mode 2	96
EF, EE (%) and solvent loss (%) as a function of N_2 flow rate. Water sample containing 0.1 µg/mL Nap and Bph flowed at 4 mL/min. The extractant flow rate was 0.1 mL/min. This was operated in Mode 3	98
EF as a function of the extractant flow rate. The sample containing 0.1 μ g/mL Nap and Bph flowed at 4ml/min. The N ₂ flow rate was 60 mL/min. This was operated in Mode 3	99
Continuous monitoring of a water sample containing 50 ng/mL Nap and Bph. The flow rates of the water sample, the extractant and the N_2 were 4, 0.075 and 60 mL/min respectively. Automatic injections were made every 5 min at Inj 1, Inj 2 and Inj 3	101
	 EF, EE (%) & Solvent loss (%) as a function of flow rate of the water sample (0.1 μg/mL Nap and Bph). The extractant flowed at 0.1 mL/min. This was operated in Mode 2. EF, EE (%) and solvent loss (%) as a function of N₂ flow rate. Water sample containing 0.1 μg/mL Nap and Bph flowed at 4 mL/min. The extractant flow rate was 0.1 mL/min. This was operated in Mode 3 EF as a function of the extractant flow rate. The sample containing 0.1 μg/mL Nap and Bph flowed at 4ml/min. The N₂ flow rate was 60 mL/min. This was operated in Mode 3 Continuous monitoring of a water sample containing 50 ng/mL Nap and Bph. The flow rates of the water sample, the extractant and the N₂ were 4, 0.075 and 60 mL/min respectively. Automatic injections were made every 5 min at Inj 1, Inj 2 and Inj 3

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Water Analysis and Sample Preparation

1.1.1 Water Analysis

Water quality is threatened by industrial discharge, urban runoff and agricultural activities, such as pesticide usage. The US Congress passed the Clean Water Act (CWA) to protect surface water, and the Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA) for ground and drinking water. The US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) has published a list of the priority contaminants and regulated their Maximum Contamination Levels (MCLs). Today, water contamination appears to be a serious problem and the US EPA has stated that over 40% of the assessed water does not meet the water quality standard. Thus, significant efforts are required to monitor and clean up polluted waters.

Typical water analysis involves four steps:

- Sampling at the site;
- Transporting/storage of samples;
- Sample preparation;
- Instrumental analysis.

The whole process takes place at different times and places. Errors are introduced via evaporation, degradation and contamination, which result in decreases in accuracy and precision. Moreover, it is time-consuming labor-intensive, and consumes large amount of reagents, resulting in high cost per sample. Real-time, continuous, on-line monitoring methods need to be developed and implemented to avoid these limitations.

1

1.1.2 Sample Preparation

In the overall water analysis process, sample preparation plays an important role and is the bottleneck in many analytical methodologies [1]. A survey in 1991 claimed that sample preparation accounted for about 61% of the effort of typical analytical chemists [2]. Poor sample treatment may destroy the whole assay even with the most powerful detection method.

The aims of sample preparation are: removal of the undesired gradients from the sample to achieve higher selectivity, concentration of the analyte for higher sensitivity or to bring the analyte concentration within the instrumental linear dynamic range. In some other cases, the analyte may not be in an analyzable form, thus further derivatization is needed. For example, acids need to be converted to esters to be detected by gas chromatography (GC). In many cases, analytes are separated from the sample and transferred to another matrix, which is termed "extraction". Interferences may need to be removed from the matrix, which is referred to as "clean-up". Since environmental pollutants are present in trace concentrations (ppm to ppt level) and in a complex matrix, sample preparation for preconcentration or enrichment is very important as it increases the analyte concentration to a level suitable for instrumental detection.

1.1.3 Conventional Sample Preparation Methods

Many pollutants in water are organic compounds, which can be classified into two categories: volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and semi-volatile organic compounds (SVOCs). The conventional sample preparation methods for VOCs are headspace analysis, purge and trap (PT). While liquid-liquid extraction (LLE) and solid phase extraction (SPE) are the conventional methods for SVOCs.

In headspace analysis, the water sample is placed in a vial and sealed with a cap. VOCs are evaporated into the headspace of the vial due to their high volatility. The equilibrium of evaporation can be enhanced by heating or stirring. The headspace air (VOCs in air) is drawn and transferred for instrumental analysis after equilibrium is reached. In PT, the VOCs are expelled from a solution by flushing with an inert gas, and then trapped into a cryogenic sorbent trap [3]. PT is used widely in US EPA standard methods for VOC analysis. However, these methods are not suitable for compounds with high water solubility.

LLE has been widely used for a few centuries and is still in use by many US EPA standard procedures. In LLE, the analytes are extracted from an aqueous sample into an organic solvent. Good selectivity and high recovery is achieved by selecting suitable solvents for different analytes. However, LLE has several disadvantages. It uses a large amount of organic solvents and the extract often needs further concentration via solvent evaporation. It is labor-intensive and time-consuming. Emulsion formation is another issue in LLE, making the separation of the organic and aqueous phases difficult. Classical LLE is hard to couple directly to analytical instruments for continuous on-line monitoring.

SPE was first reported about 50 years ago and developed significantly during the last 20 years [4]. In SPE, the organic analytes are extracted from an aqueous sample onto a solid sorbent made of bonded silica or different polymers, and then eluted with a suitable solvent by altering the polarity or pH. The selectivity of SPE can be achieved by choosing a variety of sorbents and solvents. Compared to LLE, SPE uses less organic solvent and can be coupled to high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), GC or other instruments for on-line analysis. However, it involves multiple batch processes such as

conditioning, washing, and elution. The SPE cartridges are disposable, which represents a high consumable cost. Moreover, it is quite challenging when the analytes are very polar as they are difficult to extract from water.

1.1.4. Emerging Sample Preparation Approaches

Although many conventional sample methods are still in use, there exists the need for the development of alternative higher performance methods. It is important to develop techniques for [2]:

- Smaller sample sizes
- Higher selectivity in extraction
- Automation for on-line analysis, reducing manual operations
- Less reagent and organic solvent consumption, and less waste generation

Alternative sample preparation methods, such as, flow injection analysis (FIA), solid phase microextraction (SPME), stir-bar extraction (SBE), liquid phase microextraction (LPME), and membrane technology have been evolved recently based on the goals.

FIA has been used intensively since its introduction in 1975 [5], mainly in clinical and environmental analysis. It offers several advantages: capable of on-line analysis, reduced human intervention in time-consuming procedures, shorter analysis time, decreased reagent consumption and waste generation. Another attractive characteristic is the possibility of using unstable reagents or analyzing unstable compounds that decompose when using conventional procedures [6].

SPME was invented by Pawliszyn and coworkers in 1990, and has emerged as a promising technique [7]. In SPME, the analytes are adsorbed onto a fused-silica or polymer coated fiber and then thermally desorbed in a GC injection oven, or extracted directly into

the eluent of HPLC. For VOC analysis headspace SPME is usually performed. SPME is a solvent-free technique and the instrumentation is simpler. However, it is only suitable for high concentration analysis due to its low sensitivity. The fiber is fragile and the replacement is costly.

The development of SBE was prompted by the small volume of the stationary phase of the SPME fiber, which may result in incomplete extraction. In SBE, a magnetic stirrer bar is coated with a bonded sorbent layer. It is simply stirred in the sample, removed after a certain stirring time, and finally desorbed thermally (with a thermal desorption unit) for GC analysis, or extracted into a solvent for HPLC analysis [8-9]. The disadvantage of SBE is that it is difficult to remove the stir-bar out of the sample automatically.

LPME is a miniaturized LLE that was first reported in 1996 [10]. It is based on hanging a droplet of organic solvent at the end of a micro syringe and placing it into an aqueous sample, the analytes are extracted into the organic droplet, and finally the droplet is withdrawn back to the syringe and injected into analytical instruments for detection. LPME reduces the usage of organic solvents and offers high selectivity through solvent selection and pH variation. However, it requires careful human attention, as the droplet can mix or dissolve in the sample.

1.2 Membrane Technology

1.2.1 Membrane and Membrane Technology

Membrane technology has been evolved as one of the most promising sample preparation alternatives to conventional methods, not only in analytical laboratories, but also in large-scale industrial applications [11]. The concept of membrane separation is shown in Figure 1.1. Generally speaking, the membrane is a selective barrier between two phases [12]. The sample (referred to as the donor) contacts one side of the membrane, while another phase (referred to as the acceptor) collects the species that permeate through. Mass transfer occurs by one or more driving forces, such as, concentration, pressure, pH, and electrical potential gradient.



Figure 1.1 Concept of membrane separation [35].

A wide variety of membrane materials can be used. In many cases a membrane is a porous network of polymers, such as polypropylene, polysulfone or cellulose derivatives [13]. With these membranes, separation takes place based on size-exclusion: small molecules can permeate through the membrane, while larger ones do not. However membrane separation is not only based on size difference, but also on the ionic properties of the compound. In ion-exchange membranes, ionic compounds with the same charge as the membrane ions are excluded. Some other membranes, for example, nonporous membrane that consist of a layer of liquid or polymer is different. For compounds of the same size, the separation is based on the different physicochemical properties of the compounds. Geometrically speaking, membrane can be classified into flat sheet or hollow fiber membranes. Hollow fiber membranes have larger surface to volume ratios and higher packing density, as a large number of fibers can be packed into a small volume.

1.2.2 Applications of Membrane Technology

Membrane technology has been used widely because it is simple, inexpensive, consumes less solvent, and offers high enrichment and clean-up efficiency. Moreover, membrane separation has been coupled to various instruments for continuous on-line analysis.

Gas permeation, pervaporation, filtration, dialysis, electrodialysis, and membrane extraction are the most frequently used membrane applications for sample preparation. Gas permeation takes place when some components in the donor pass through the membrane more rapidly than others. Microporous and nonporous membranes are applicable for gas permeation. Large molecules are excluded from the pores of microporous membranes. For a nonporous membrane, gas dissolves in the membrane material and then diffuse through it. The driving forces for gas permeation are concentration, pressure, and temperature differences. The main application of gas permeation on sample preparation is for the detection and removal of volatile organic compounds from air samples.

Pervaporation is characterized by the existence of a membrane between a liquid and a gaseous phase, selective mass transfer occurred across the membrane to the gas side. Since different components pass through the membrane at different speeds, a compound in the donor side can be highly enriched compared to the permeate side. In the meanwhile, the species on the donor side can be concentrated by losing the components that have higher permeating speeds. The pervaporation process can be speeded up by applying a vacuum at the permeate side which removes the permeated species quickly. The driving forces for pervaporation could be chemical potential gradient, pressure and temperature differences. The main applications of pervaporation include water or solvent removal from organic or aqueous samples, organic/organic separation and vapor permeation [11].

Membrane filtration can be classified into ultrafiltration and microfiltration. Ultrafiltration is primarily a size-exclusion separation process. The driving force is pressure gradient. The average pore sizes of ultrafiltration membranes range from 10 to 1000 angstroms and the molecular weight of the retaining species range from 300 to 500,000 Daltons, including sugars, polymers, biomolecules, and colloids [11]. Microfiltration is used for the separation of micro-sized particles from fluids. Separation occurs when a pressure-driven flow (1 to 50 psi) is applied across a membrane. Microfiltration has seen many successful applications, such as syringe filters and filter systems for HPLC mobile phase.

Dialysis is a membrane process in which microsolutes pass through while the macrosolutes are blocked. On the permeate side, an aqueous solution is used to receive the permeated microsolutes. The selectivity is achieved by sieving in the membrane pores and the driving force is the concentration gradient between the two sides of membrane. In electrodialysis, a pair of electrodes is placed on both sides of the membrane, which creates

an electric potential gradient. Another driving force of electrodialysis is the concentration difference across the membrane.

Membrane extraction has evolved as one of most promising sample preparation methods and has been used widely in analytical processes. In membrane extraction, the solutes first dissolve into the membrane and then diffuse through it. At the other side of membrane the acceptor receives the solutes. The mechanism is described as solution-diffusion theory. The driving force of membrane extraction is the concentration gradient between the two sides of the membrane. Membrane extraction has been used for the separation of a variety of volatile, semi-volatile and non-volatile compounds from different types of samples, with high enrichment and selectivity. The details of membrane extraction will be discussed in the following section.

1.3 Membrane Extraction

Membrane extraction is a family of techniques that can be applied to many extraction problems [14]. It requires very little organic solvent, and offers high enrichment and clean-up efficiency. Systems based on membrane extraction can be automated and connected with various analytical instruments for continuous on-line analysis [15-27]. Both inorganic and organic analytes can be extracted with different kinds of membrane extraction modules. [15-30]. There are three main types of membrane extraction, supported liquid membrane extraction, liquid-liquid membrane extraction and polymeric membrane extraction. The phase conditions of the three types of membrane extraction are listed in Table 1.1.

Name	Abbreviation	Phases
		(Donor-membrane-acceptor)
Supported liquid membrane extraction	SLME	Aqueous-organic-aqueous
Liquid-liquid membrane extraction	LLME	Aqueous-organic-organic or
		organic-organic-aqueous
Polymeric membrane extraction	PME	Aqueous-polymer-aqueous or
		organic-polymer-aqueous or
		aqueous-polymer-organic

 Table 1.1 Phases of the Three Types of Membrane Extraction

1.3.1 Supported Liquid Membrane Extraction (SLME)

The application of SLME to sample preparation in analytical chemistry was first introduced by Audunsson in 1986 [31]. Since then it has been developed quickly as a useful tool for preconcentration of complex samples, such as blood plasma, urine and wastewater, etc [32]. The main applications of SLME are for biological and environmental analysis. SLME has also been used for industrial separations, such as the extraction of metal ions and organic acids in wastewater.

In SLME, on one side of the membrane the donor is adjusted to a certain pH so that the analytes are in their molecular forms. On the other side another aqueous solution, which is called acceptor, is adjusted at a different pH to receive the analytes via an acid-base reaction. The supported liquid membrane is made by soaking a piece of hydrophobic microporous membrane (support) in an organic solvent (liquid) for a while, so that the solvent is held in the membrane pores by capillary forces. The organic solvents for SLME are long-chain hydrocarbons, which should be non-volatile and insoluble in water, to achieve long stability in the membrane. Typical solvents used are n-undecane, kerosene and polar compounds like dihexyl ether and dioctyl phosphate [33] for moderate polar to nonpolar compounds. For very polar compounds, hydrogen-bonding reagents, such as tri-n-octylphosphine oxide (TOPO) can be added to the membrane liquid to increase the efficiency of such extraction [28-29, 34].

Figure 1.2 shows the basic principle of SLME of an acid [35]. The acid molecules (HA) move from the bulk donor solution to the surface of the membrane, dissolve into the organic solvent in the membrane or the membrane pores, and are back extracted into the acceptor solution via deprotonation. Extraction and back-extraction take place simultaneously resulting in efficient mass transfer. Neutral compounds can pass through the membrane but without enrichment. The base ions are excluded from extraction because they are charged. Similarly, the acid ions cannot be back-extracted into the donor side, resulting in the enrichment of acid ions in the acceptor solution.



Figure 1.2 The concept of SLME of organic acids.

SLME offers high enrichment and selectivity, and has been applied to polar compounds, such as organic acids or bases, charged compounds, and metal ions [36]. The selectivity is achieved by tuning the chemistry of the three phases for different classes of compounds. Simply, basic analytes can be extracted in an analogous manner by reversing the pH conditions. In addition to pH, the organic solvent, membrane, and ion strength of the donor are the factors that tune selectivity in SLME. In summary, a neutral, extractable species should be formed in the donor phase by adjusting pH. The species should be transported through the membrane and into the acceptor phase, in another non-extractable form. In short, SLME is a combination of extraction into an organic solvent followed by a back-extraction into another aqueous phase [37]. The mass transfer from the donor to acceptor is proportional to the concentration difference, ΔC , over the membrane, which can be expressed as:

$$\Delta C = \alpha_D C_D - \alpha_A C_A \tag{1.1}$$

Where C_b and C_A are the concentration in the donor and acceptor respectively, and α_b and α_4 are the fractions of the analytes that are the extractable (molecular) form in the donor and acceptor phase. Normally the extraction conditions are set so that α_b is close to unity and α_A is very small, for instance, to an alkaline donor and an acidic acceptor if bases are to be extracted, the C_A is zero from the beginning of the extraction and increases successively, usually to a value well above C_b at the end. The maximum enrichment factor (EF_{max}) is obtained when ΔC reaches zero:

$$EF_{\max} = (C_A / C_D)_{\max} = \alpha_D / \alpha_A \tag{1.2}$$

The extraction efficiency (EE) is usually expressed as:

$$EE = n_A / n_{Di} \tag{1.3}$$

Where n_A and n_{Di} are the number of moles of analyte in the acceptor and the initial donor, respectively. Extraction efficiency is a function of many parameters, including the partition coefficient (K) of the analyte between the aqueous phase and the organic liquid in the membrane, the acceptor conditions, flow rates of the donor and acceptor, and the characteristics and dimensions of the membrane and channels [33]. The influence of K is still not straightforward. For relatively hydrophilic compounds with a low K, the analytes are not sufficiently extracted into the organic solvent and the overall mass transfer is limited by the diffusion through the membrane, which leads to a low EE. For intermediate K, the mass transfer is limited by the analyte transport in the donor phase. For very hydrophobic compounds (high K values), the limiting factor is the transport of analyte into the acceptor phase. It was found that the most efficient extraction occurred when the octanol-water partition coefficient was around 10^3 [38]. The acceptor conditions are also important for the extraction efficiency, which decreases if the trapping is not complete and subsequently limits the enrichment factor that can be achieved [39].

1.3.2 Liquid-liquid Membrane Extraction (LLME)

LLME is another approach to membrane extraction. It is a two-phase extraction system, where the analytes are extracted from an aqueous phase into an organic phase or from an organic phase into an aqueous phase. Both hydrophobic and hydrophilic membranes are used in LLME. In a hydrophobic membrane, the membrane pores are filled with an organic solvent, the analytes in the aqueous donor phase move toward the membrane, dissolve in the membrane, and then reach into the organic acceptor. For a hydrophilic membrane, the aqueous phase wets and fills the membrane pores. The analytes are extracted from an

organic donor into an aqueous acceptor phase. LLME with hydrophilic membranes are seldom used for analytical purposes.

LLME is more suitable than SLME for hydrophobic compounds, such as, hydrocarbons. These compounds are more easily extracted from an aqueous phase into an organic solvent. The schematic diagram of a continuous LLME is shown in Figure 1.3.



Figure 1.3 Schematic diagram of a continuous LLME [61].

The principle of LLME is equivalent to a conventional LLE, but may be performed in a flow system that allows easy automation by interfacing to analytical instruments. This technique is easily interfaced with GC and HPLC. Due to the presence of a membrane in LLME, there is no emulsion formation, which is a common phenomenon when the two phases are directly contacted, such as in LLE. In LLME, the aqueous phase and organic
phases are never mixed, and mass transfer between the phases takes place at the surface of the membrane.

The extraction efficiency of LLME is also limited by the partition coefficient. It is possible to obtain a considerable enrichment into a relatively small acceptor volume. When the partition coefficient is small, flow of the acceptor phase moves very slowly to accept and remove the extracted analytes, and maintain the diffusion through the membrane. However, this may lead to a smaller degree of enrichment.

Polymeric membrane extraction (PME) is another application of membrane extraction. The most commonly used membrane for PME is silicon rubber, which leads to possibilities for both longer lifetime of the membrane. There are a aqueous-polymer-aqueous extraction, which is similar to SLME, and aqueous-polymer-organic extraction (similar to LLME). Melcher et al first described both principles [40-41]. However, PME is not used as frequently as SLME and LLME due to the slow mass transfer rate and less possibilities for chemical tuning.

1.3.3 Applications

Membrane extraction has been applied widely to various analytes and different matrices [33]. In environmental analysis many kinds of analytes are extracted and enriched. These include VOCs, which can be extracted from aqueous samples into a gaseous acceptor through membrane pervaporation, which can be coupled to GC or mass spectrometry (MS) for the on-line monitoring of VOCs. This application has been studied in our laboratory [16, 27, 42-43]. Kou et el reported gas injection membrane extraction (GIME) followed by GC detection for fast analysis of VOCs in water. In GIME aqueous sample was introduced into the membrane extraction system by gas injection, which reduced the formation of

boundary layer, and increased the overall diffusion coefficient [16]. VOCs in air samples can also be extracted via membrane extraction [15]. Compounds such as benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, xylenes and similar compounds were analyzed [15-16, 27, 42-43]. Acidic and basic compounds, mainly from surface water samples can be extracted using SLME. Compounds such as pesticides [44], phenoxy acids [45], sulfonylurea herbicides [46-47], and phenolic compounds [48] in water have been reported. Carboxylic acids in air samples [49] and in soil samples [50-51] were also analyzed by SLME. Basic analytes, such as aliphatic amines [52], triazine herbicides [53-55], and aniline derivatives [56] also have been extracted and enriched. Other compounds, such as metal ions [57-59], and anionic surfactants [60] in environmental samples also were extracted by SLME successfully. Nonionizable compounds or those with low polarity can be extracted with LLME, in which the analystes are extracted into an organic extract. Analytes, such as naphthalene [24, 30], pentachlorophenol [26, 61], triazine herbicides [62], cationic surfactants [63], and organotin compounds [64] have been analyzed by LLME.

Membrane extraction has also been applied widely in bioanalysis to determine drugs and other compounds as well in biological fluids, such as blood, plasma and urine [33]. The sample volume is limited in bioanalysis, thus the enrichment factor is generally smaller than in environmental analysis. SLME has been used for the analysis of ropivacaine metabolites in urine [18], amperozide in blood plasma [65], and some other drug compounds [23, 66] with a high degree of selectivity achieved. SLME with other compounds, such as heavy metals [67-68] and aliphatic amines [69] from urine were reported. LLME has also been applied to bioanalysis, such as to anaesthetics in blood plasma [17]. For food analysis, membrane extraction has been used in the determination of vitamin E in butter [70], pesticide residues in lipid matrices [71], and phenoxy herbicides in milk [72]. Some interesting applications of SLME were to solid or semi-solid food samples. Nicotine in snuff [73], vanillin in chocolate [74], and caffeine in coffee and tea [75] have been extracted.

1.4 Membrane Modules

The membrane modules can be made from flat sheet and hollow fiber membranes. The flat sheet membrane modules are usually constructed of two blocks of inert material with grooved channels. The blocks are clamped or screwed together with a piece of flat sheet membrane sandwiched in between. Figure 1.4 shows the schematic diagram of such modules.



Figure 1.4 Schematic diagram of flat sheet membrane module.

Hollow fiber membrane modules are made by packing a number of hollow fibers inside a stainless steel or PTFE tubing. Two T-unions are connected at each end of the tubing to connect the donor and acceptor line. Epoxy glue is used to seal the ends to prevent the mixing of the two phases. Figure 1.5 shows an example of this module.



Figure 1.5 Hollow fiber membrane module.

These two modules can be used for continuous on-line analysis. For off-line extraction, a simple setup is shown in Figure 1.6. Two syringes taped together are used for introducing and withdrawing acceptor into the hollow fiber membrane, and holding the membrane in place at the same time. A magnetic stirrer is utilized to speed up the mass transfer in the donor phase.



Figure 1.6 Off-line membrane extraction setup.

CHAPTER 2

RESEARCH OBJECTIVS

As mentioned in Chapter 1, the important needs in the analytical instrumentation arena are miniaturization and automation. Membrane separation is a promising sample preparation method that can facilitate both. The overall objectives of this study were to develop the miniaturized membrane modules for sample enrichment and to develop automated membrane systems for continuous on-line monitoring of both polar and non-polar compounds in water.

Hollow fiber based microextraction techniques have shown much promise in the extraction and preconcentration of analytes from aqueous matrices. Typically, a solvent held in the membrane is used as an extractant (or an acceptor). However, a problem of the micro-scale extraction is the outflow of the extract, especially during long extractions, and with vigorous stirring. To enhance the performance, the stabilization of the acceptor is important. A barrier film that can decrease the extract loss will be implemented and its effect will be studied. Hollow fiber microextraction will be carried out in two different approaches: liquid-liquid membrane microextraction and supported liquid membrane microextraction for the determination non-polar and acidic analytes in water.

A great advantage of membrane extraction is that it can be miniaturized onto a chip. It involves the flow of sample on one side of the membrane, while an extractant flows on the other side, and the analytes selectively permeate across the membrane. Miniature, on-chip devices will be designed and fabricated on polycarbonate wafers. The dimensions of the chips, and the flow rates of the sample and extractant will be investigated.

21

Automated online measurements are less expensive, provide real-time information and have better accuracy and precision. Since there is less manual sample handling, these techniques tend to be less prone to contamination. Membrane extraction can be coupled with analytical instruments for continuous, on-line monitoring. Haloacetic acids (HAAs) are the major non-volatile disinfect byproducts generated during the chlorination of drinking water. Currently there is no continuous method for the determination of all the nine HAAs. Here an automated, online membrane extraction system will be developed for the continuous monitoring of HAAs.

There has been much interest in integrating different analytical functions onto a single platform referred to as total analytical system (TAS). Trace level analysis involves the extraction of the analytes from the matrix, concentration of the extract, and instrumental detection. Therefore an automated TAS that can perform on-line extraction, concentration, and detection is desirable. It can be implemented by interfacing continuous membrane extraction, pervaporation and on-line HPLC-UV detection.

In summary, the specific objectives of this research were:

I. Developments in micro-scale membrane modules:

- To develop hollow fiber membrane microextraction based on liquid-liquid membrane extraction and supported liquid membrane extraction for the determination of non-polar and polar compounds in water.
- To design and fabricate a miniaturized on-chip device for sample enrichment.

II. Developments in automated, on-line membrane systems:

- To develop a continuous membrane extraction system for on-line monitoring of trace level haloacetic acids in water.
- To develop a total analytical system by interfacing membrane extraction, pervaporation, and HPLC-UV detection for continuous, on-line monitoring of non-polar organics in water.

SECTION A:

MICRO-SCALE MEMBRANE EXTRACTION

CHAPTER 3

SOLVENT SYSTEMS FOR MICRO-SCALE MEMBRANE EXTRACTION

3.1 Implementation of Barrier Film in Hollow Fiber Microextraction

3.1.1 Introduction

The challenge in trace analysis lies in the separation of analytes from complex matrices and the achievement of low detection limits. Separation and preconcentration are usually necessary prior to analysis and are often accomplished by procedures, such as liquid-liquid extraction (LLE), solid phase extraction (SPE), and solid phase micro-extraction (SPME). Recently, there has been significant interest in microextraction techniques because of their simplicity and miniature scale.

An interesting microextraction approach has been referred to as liquid-phase microextraction (LPME). It is carried out by exposing a single droplet of an organic solvent, hung from the end of a micro syringe needle and into the aqueous sample [77-85]. Passive sampling of analytes into the organic droplet occurs via diffusion. Stirring can be utilized to enhance the mass transfer and extraction. This technique is inexpensive and uses small amounts of organic solvent. However, it is not rugged because the droplet may be lost during the extraction, especially at high stirring rate or during a long extraction [86]. Moreover, samples such as plasma may emulsify the organic solvent and affect the stability of the droplet [87].

Enclosing the organic solvent into a piece of hollow fiber membrane with an open sample end is a modification of LPME [88-89]. Compared to the single drop LPME, it is more robust and the loss of extract is reduced significantly. However, the solvent and the

24

extract can still be lost by dissolving into the sample matrix or be extruded due to vigorous stirring. Low reproducibility in extract volume results in variable enrichment factors and extraction efficiency. Moreover, as the solvent is open to the sample, which reduces selectivity. Emulsion formation is also possible during the direct contact between the aqueous sample and organic solvent.

Pedersen-Bjergaard et al. reported a hollow fiber based LPME approach, where the extractant was completely enclosed in a membrane and isolated from the aqueous sample [87, 90]. Two syringes were used for injecting the acceptor into the hollow fiber and withdrawing the extract. The membrane served as a selective barrier for the analytes to permeate in while preventing solvent outflow and extract loss. Thus higher stirring rate could be applied to enhance extraction.

Hollow fiber based LPME can be carried out by two approaches: supported liquid membrane microextraction (SLMME) and liquid-liquid membrane microextraction (LLMME). SLMME is a three-phase system in which the analytes are extracted from an aqueous sample into an aqueous acceptor via an organic extractant held in the pores of the membrane by capillary force. It has shown great promise for the determination of highly polar and ionizable compounds [87, 28-29]. LLMME is a two-phase system where the analytes are extracted from an aqueous sample to an organic acceptor. It is the equivalent of liquid-liquid extraction across a membrane and can be used in any application as long as the analytes can be enriched into an organic solvent [24, 61]. While the presence of membrane prevents direct interaction with the extractant, the later is still lost via diffusion through the membrane and by dissolving in the aqueous phase [61]. These are more pronounced for certain solvents that have high diffusion coefficient in the membrane

material and high solubility in water. Vigorous conditions (e.g. high stirring rate) and long extraction time that are needed for high enrichment only enhance the loss of the acceptor. The reduction/elimination of solvent loss is important for enhancing the performance of membrane based microextraction.

The objective of this study is to investigate solvent systems that can be implemented to reduce the loss of solvent (and the extract) enclosed in the membrane. Two approaches are investigated. The first involves the coating of the membrane fiber with a barrier film of a solvent that has lower miscibility/solubility with water. This layer serves as a diffusion barrier that prevents the outflow of the acceptor through membrane. Now LLMME becomes a three-phase system, where the analyte has to first partition into the barrier film before being extracted by the solvent. This is shown in Figure 1. The latter way may be simply select a solvent that is less miscible/soluble with water.

3.1.2 Experimental Section

3.1.2.1 Reagents

Six PAHs (naphthalene, fluorene, acenaphthene, phenanthrene, anthracene and pyrene) purchased from Supelco (Supelco Park, PA, US) were used as the model compounds in this study. HPLC grade acetonitrile (Fisher Scientific, NJ, US) was used as the mobile phase in HPLC analysis and for preparing stock solution. All other chemicals used in this study were ACS reagent grade (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO, US). Deionized (DI) water was obtained from a Millipore Gradient A10 water purification system (Millipore Co., Bedford, MA, US). The filter membrane of the system has an average pore size of 0.22 μ m.

3.1.2.2 Apparatus and Procedures

Photographs of the hollow fiber based microextraction system is shown in Figure 3.1. It is quite simple and inexpensive. Two 50 μ L HPLC manual injection syringes (Hamilton, Reno, NV, USA) with flat needles were used to hold the membrane in place (Figure 3.1a). The two syringes pierced through a septum cap and were fixed together, which made it easily screwed to the donor bottle. One syringe was used to inject the acceptor into the membrane, while the other was used to withdraw the extract. The liquid membrane was placed into a donor bottle that contained the water sample. A magnetic stir plate (Cimarec 3, Barnstead/Thermolyne, Dubuque, Iowa, USA) was used to speed up the extraction. The whole setup is shown in Figure 3.1b. The schematic diagram of such setup has been already described in Figure 1.6.

The hollow fiber membrane used in this study was Accurel PP Q3/2 (Membrana GmbH, Wuppertal, Germany). It had an I.D. of 600 μ m and an O.D. of 1000 μ m with an average pore size of 0.2 μ m with 75% of the surface being porous. A 10.8 cm long membrane was soaked in the barrier fluid, and then attached to one of the syringes filled with about 50 μ L of organic acceptor. The syringe plunger was then released; 30 μ L of the acceptor remained in the membrane lumen while the rest went out through the other end of the membrane. The other syringe needle was attached immediately on the other end. The membrane assembly was then suspended into the sample bottle. Extraction was carried out with stirring at relatively high speed. After the extraction, the acceptor was withdrawn and transferred into a vial insert (Fisher Scientific, Springfield, NJ, USA) for HPLC analysis. A new membrane fiber was used for each extraction, thus analyte carry over was not a concern.



Figure 3.1 Photographs of the hollow fiber microextraction.

3.1.2.3 Chromatographic Separation

The chromatographic separation was carried out by a Hewlett-Packard 1050 HPLC equipped with a Waters 486 Tunable Absorbance UV detector. The HPLC column was a 150 mm × 6.0 mm I.D. YMC ODS-A C_{18} column with 5 µm packing. The HPLC mobile phase was 65:35 (v/v) acetonitrile: DI water with a flow rate of 2.0 mL/min. The

wavelength was set at 254 nm, and the injection volume was 20 μ L. Minichrom V 1.62 software (VG Data System) was used for data acquisition and analysis. The complete separation of the six PAHs was achieved within 12 minutes.

3.1.3 Results and Discussion

3.1.3.1 Mass Transfer

Figure 3.2 shows the mass transfer in hollow fiber based microextraction. The analytes (A) in the sample (donor) partition in barrier film of the membrane, and then permeate through the membrane, finally dissolve in the organic solvent (acceptor) in the fiber lumen: $A_{donor} \rightarrow A_{barrier fluid} \rightarrow A_{acceptor}$. The whole process is driven by the partition of the analytes between the aqueous sample, barrier fluid and the organic acceptor.

3.1.3.2 Barrier Film

Toluene has been used as the acceptor for the PAHs extraction [89]. However, it was found to be easily lost by diffusion through the membrane and the pores. The extract loss is often accompanied by the loss of analyte leading to a low enrichment factor. The recovery of a variable amount of extract leads to increased uncertainty in quantitative analysis. When extraction was carried out for a long period, or the stirring rate was high all the toluene was lost. Consequently, the prevention of solvent loss is important. This can be done by choosing a solvent with low water immiscibility or coating the membrane with a thin barrier film of an immiscible solvent, thus preventing the outflow of extract. In some cases, a completely water-immiscible solvent may lead to very low extraction efficiency. So, the barrier film should allow the diffusion of the analyte through it, to obtain the high extraction efficiency and enrichment factor.

The barrier film was implemented by soaking the membrane in the solvent prior to extraction. Four different organic solvents, dihexyl ether, n-undecane, 1-octanol and n-decane, were tested as the barrier film. Extraction without any barrier film was also performed for comparison. The donor was 250 mL, $0.1 \,\mu$ g/mL of the six PAHs in DI water. The acceptor was 30 μ L toluene, the stirring level was set at 5 (arbitrary units) and extraction time was 10 minutes. The EF, the percentage of the extractant lost during the extraction is presented in Table 3.1. N-decane provided the best results, all the six PAHs were extracted and the EF was large. When no barrier film was used, the high water solubility of toluene resulted in high acceptor loss. Figure 3.3 (a) shows the chromatograms from the extraction with only toluene and with n-decane as the barrier film. Only four of the six PAHs were detected without the barrier film. When n-decane was applied, all the six of the PAHs were detected and the extraction efficiency and EF were higher.

Acceptor loss as a function of extraction time is shown in Figure 3.4. The donor (volume and composition) and the stirring rate were same as for the data in Table 3.1. Significant acceptor loss was observed without the barrier film, it increased with the increase in extraction time and was completely lost after 20 minutes. When either n-decane or dihexyl ether was applied as the barrier film, the acceptor loss was much lower although it increased with the extraction time. The extractant loss decreased further when n-decane was used as both the barrier film and the acceptor. Solvent loss was less than 3.3% for a 30-minute extraction.



Figure 3.2 Mass transfer through barrier film in hollow fiber based microextraction.

	Water solubility	Boiling point (°C)	Enrichment factor					Acceptor	
Barrier film	(20 ℃)		naphthalene	fluorene	acenaphthene	phenanthrene	anthracene	pyrene	loss (%)
<i>W</i> ithout barrier film	u 0.515 g/L³	110.6 ^b	nd ^c	67.5	nd	68.0	54.6	76.6	73.3
dihexyl ether	insoluble	226.6	nd	164.1	nd	150.3	129.3	175.4	33.3
1-octanol	insoluble	194.5	nd	117.9	nd	117.9	77.3	117.6	26.7
n-undecane	insoluble	196.0	248.7	120.6	95.6	121.2	87.2	125.9	10
n-decane	0.009 ppm	174.0	485.6	146.2	185.7	144.0	94.6	158.2	10

Table 3.1 The Effect of Barrier Film on Enrichment Factor and Acceptor Loss

^a toluene's water solubility; ^b toluene's boiling point; ^c Not detected.



Retention time (min)

(a)



Figure 3.3 (a) Chromatograms from LLMME with and without n-decane as the barrier film, toluene was used as the acceptor. (b) Chromatogram from LLMME with n-decane as the acceptor and the barrier film. The peaks are: 1. naphthalene, 2. fluorene, 3. acenaphthene, 4. phenanthrene, 5. anthracene, and 6. pyrene.



Figure 3.4 Acceptor loss as a function of extraction time. The donor was 250 mL, $0.1 \mu g/mL$ of the six PAHs in DI water. The acceptor was 30 μL toluene, and the stirring level was set at 5 (arbitrary units).

3.1.3.3 Stirring Effect

Stirring is known to enhance extraction because it increases the mass transfer [29]. However, higher stirring rate also increases solvent loss. Figure 3.5 shows the effect of stirring rate on acceptor loss (a) and on the peak areas of the PAHs in the extract (b). The donor was $0.1 \ \mu g/mL$ of the six PAHs in 250 mL DI water, the acceptor was $30 \ \mu L$ toluene and n-decane was used as the barrier film. The extraction time was 10 minutes. Stirrer setting was varied from 2 to 8 (arbitrary units). At higher stirring rates the permeation of toluene to the water phase increased, resulting in higher acceptor loss. With an n-decane barrier film, the solvent loss was less than 20% even when stirring rate was increased to 8, whereas the toluene was completely lost when there was no barrier protection. As expected, the peak area increased significantly when the stirring level increased from 2 to 7 (Figure 3.5b). However, it decreased when the stirring level was increased beyond 8, because the extract began to be lost under the high level of agitation. Thus level 7 was selected as the optimum stirring rate.

3.1.3.4 Acceptor Selection

Since the barrier film can be used to prevent acceptor loss, a variety of solvents can be used as the acceptor. The data presented so far used toluene as the extractant. Dihexyl ether and n-decane were tested as the acceptor and also the barrier film. Both solvents worked well for the extraction of the six PAHs and the acceptor loss was negligible. The baseline of the chromatogram obtained using n-decane was better than that with dihexyl ether, and it was studied in more details. A chromatogram after a 10-minute extraction of a sample



Figure 3.5 Effect of stirring level on (a) acceptor loss, and (b) on peak area of PAHs (toluene as the acceptor and n-decane as the barrier film).

Figure 3.6 compares the peak areas obtained with n-decane as the barrier film as well as the acceptor (n-decane/n-decane), to that with n-decane as the barrier film along with toluene as the acceptor (n-decane /toluene). Naphthalene had a higher extraction efficiency using n-decane/toluene combination, while the rest of the five PAHs were extracted better with the n-decane/n-decane system.



Figure 3.6 Peak area of PAHs using different acceptor (barrier film: n-decane).

3.1.3.5 Extraction Time

Different extraction times were investigated and the results are shown in Figure 3.7. The sample was 250 mL of 0.1 μ g/mL six PAHs in DI water and the acceptor was 30 μ L n-decane, which also served as the barrier film. Now that we had a solvent system that had significantly lower acceptor loss, high stirring speed and long extraction times were possible. The stirring level was set at 7 and the extraction time as long as 60 minutes were

studied. As can see from Figure 3.7, an increase of extraction time resulted in higher enrichment, and consequently higher sensitivity.



Figure 3.7 Effect of extraction time on peak area.

3.1.3.6 Analytical Performance

Based on the above experiments, the optimum conditions appeared to be use of n-decane as the barrier film and acceptor, with a 60-minute extraction at a stirring level of 7. DI water samples spiked with different PAHs concentrations ranging between 0.01 to 100 μ g/L were extracted under these conditions. The linear dynamic ranges, regression coefficients (R²), relative standard deviations (RSDs), method detection limits (MDLs), EF and EE% are listed in Table 3.2.

Table	3.2	Analyti	ical P	Performance
-------	-----	---------	--------	-------------

	Water solubility (mg/L) at	Log K _{ow} [30]	Linear Dynamic Range	Regression Coefficient (R ²)	RSD (%) n=7	MDLª (ng/L)	Enrichment factor	Extraction efficiency (%)	Drinking water fountain	Bottle water (µg/L)
	25°C		(µg/L)						(μg/L)	
naphthalene	32	3.36	0.50-100	0.9997	7.65	120	494	5.93	nd ^o	nd
fluorene	1.9	4.18	0.10-100	0.9985	1.60	5	2037	24.44	0.083	0.015
acenaphthene	3.4	4.32	1.00-100	0.9933	2.75	86	1329	15.95	4.043	nd
phenanthrene	1.0-1.3	4.46	0.05-100	0.9870	3.24	5	1317	15.80	0.078	nd
anthracene	0.05-0.07	4.45	0.01-40	0.9997	6.51	2	4555	54.66	0.341	nd
pyrene	0.14	5.30	0.10-100	0.9891	3.55	11	2531	30.37	0.154	nd

* MDLs were obtained with a water sample containing $0.50 \,\mu$ g/L naphthalene, $0.10 \,\mu$ g/L fluorene and pyrene, $1 \,\mu$ g/L acenaphthene, $0.05 \,\mu$ g/L phenanthrene and $0.01 \,\mu$ g/L anthracene.

** Not detected.

The detection limits determined by the standard EPA procedure [113] were at the ng/L (ppt) level. The response was linear with a fairly large linear dynamic range, the regression coefficients (\mathbb{R}^2) were between 0.9870 and 0.9997 indicating high degree of linearity in a large dynamic range. RSDs based on seven replicates measured over three different days, were between 1.60 and 7.65 %. The EF ranged from 494 to 4555, which was significantly higher than what has been reported previously, using toluene as the acceptor (between 46-167) [89]. EE% was between 6 and 55%.

3.1.3.7 Analysis of Real World Drinking Water

The optimized method was applied to the determination of PAHs in real world drinking water samples. Two drinking water samples were analyzed. The first was from a drinking water fountain located at New Jersey Institute of Technology (Newark, NJ, USA), and the other was bottled natural spring water (Acadia) bought from STOP & SHOP grocery store (Linderhurst, NJ, USA). The results were also listed in Table 3.2. Five of the six PAHs studied were detected in the water from the water fountain, with concentrations ranging between 0.078 and 4.043 μ g/L. For the bottled water, only fluorene was found, at a concentration of 0.015 μ g/L. The results showed that this technique could be employed to monitor trace level water samples.

3.1.4 Conclusion

A barrier film of a second solvent was coated on a hollow fiber membrane to stabilize the acceptor solvent within. The coating was implemented easily by dipping the membrane in the barrier solvent. Toluene, which has been typically used as an extractant for PAH

analysis could be stabilized by a barrier film of decane (or dihexyl ether), and its loss during extraction could be significantly reduced. Extraction time as long as 60 min was possible with a barrier film, and high stirring rate which would not be possible with pure toluene were now possible. The overall effect was significantly enhanced performance in terms of higher enrichment factor, lower detections limits and higher reproducibility. Running a large number of samples simultaneously can increase the sample throughput. The extraction device is simple, inexpensive and uses little organic solvent. It can also be used with GC or GC/MS detection to achieve even lower MDLs.

3.2 Supported Liquid Membrane Microextraction of Haloacetic Acids

3.2.1 Haloacetic Acids

Chlorination is one of the most common methods for disinfecting drinking water [91]. Chlorine reacts with naturally occurring acids to form halogenated disinfection byproducts (DBPs), some of which are known carcinogens. Trihalomethanes (THMs) and haloacetic acids (HAAs) are the major volatile and nonvolatile DBPs [92]. The names, abbreviations, pKa values and octanol-water partition coefficients (log P) of the nine HAAs are included in Table 3.3. USEPA has classified DCAA as a probable human carcinogen and TCAA as a possible human carcinogen. Furthermore, decarboxylation of HAAs results in the formation of THMs, which are also carcinogens. USEPA has regulated the total Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL) in drinking water of the five HAAs: MCAA, MBAA, DCAA, BCAA, and DBAA to be less than 60 µg/L [93].

Currently there are several USEPA approved methods for the determination of HAAs in drinking water (EPA method 552, 552.1, 552.2) [94-96]. All these methods

involve cumbersome liquid-liquid extraction or ion exchange and derivatization, followed by GC-ECD detection. They have several limitations, for example, EPA method 552.1 uses ion exchange and derivatization followed by GC-ECD detection. It consumes less solvent, however the interference from anions increases the detection limits [95], and it can only determine six of the HAAs. Typical analysis time for the above methods varies between three to four hours. Alternative methods that do not need the derivatization prior to analysis have been developed based on, liquid chromatography (LC) [97-98], ion chromatography (IC) [99-101], capillary electrophoresis (CE) [102], and electrospray ionization high- field asymmetric waveform ion mobility spectrometry and mass spectrometry (ESI-FAIMS-MS) [103]. ESI-FAIMS-MS provides low detection limit, has excellent sensitivity and selectivity, but the high cost limits its availability. The detection limits of the LC, IC and CE methods are higher than the GC methods. Many of the alternative methods have been used for five or six HAAs, and only a few are applicable for all the nine HAAs.

Names	Abbreviation	LogP*	pKa
Monochloroacetic acid	MCAA	0.22	2.87
Dichloroacetic acid	DCAA	0.92	1.26
Monobromoacetic acid	MBAA	0.41	2.89
Bromochloroacetic acid	BCAA	1.14	1.39
Dibromoacetic acid	DBAA	1.69	1.47
Trichloroacetic acid	TCAA	1.33	0.51
Bromodichloroacetic acid	BDCAA	2.31	1.09
Chlorodibromoacetic acid	CDBAA	2.91	1.09
Tribromoacetic acid	TBAA	3.46	3.13

 Table 3.3 Names, Abbreviation and Properties of Nine HAAs

*logP and pKa values are from Ref. [29].

3.2.2 Supported Liquid Membrane Microextraction



Figure 3.8 Schematic diagram of SLMME setup [29].

SLME has been used for the extraction of charged or ionized analytes [14]. Supported liquid membrane micro-extraction (SLMME) followed by ion-pair chromatography was developed for the analysis of nine HAAs in water [35]. The SLMME system is shown in Figure 3.8. The supported liquid membrane (SLM) used is made by impregnating a short segment (few cm) of microporous hollow fiber with a membrane liquid (organic solvent) for a few seconds, and the membrane pores are automatically filled with the liquid. The excess liquid is replaced by injecting micro liters of basic acceptor (NaOH solution) into

the membrane lumen. Two syringes are used to hold the membrane in place. One is used to inject (or withdraw) the acceptor into (or from) the membrane. The other serves as a support. The liquid membrane is placed in the acidified water sample (the donor). A magnetic stirrer is used to agitate the sample during extraction. After extraction, the acceptor solution is drawn into the syringe, and analyzed by ion-pair chromatography. This technique provides high enrichment in a relatively short analysis time.

When 0.05 M tris buffer was used as the acceptor instead of the NaOH solution, much less interference was observed at trace levels and the linear dynamic range was broader. Second, instead of IC with flow programming and mobile phase with high salt concentration (400 mM ammonium sulfate), an isocratic HPLC method was developed. The mobile phase was 15 mM KH_2PO_4/H_3PO_4 buffer at pH 2.24:acetonitrile (95:5, v/v) at a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min. This new method was found that the humic acid interference peak was separated well from the first analyte peak (MCAA). Moreover this HPLC method could avoid the frequent column washing caused by the salt crystallization in the column. The chromatograms before and after modifications are shown in Figure 3.9 and 3.10, respectively. With the optimized method, detection limits decreased about 1 to 8 times. The comparison of the linear dynamic ranges and method detection limits before and after optimization is showed in Table 3.4.



Figure 3.9 Chromatogram of nine HAAs in reagent water after SLMME (before method modification). The concentrations were: MCAA at 40 ppb, MBAA at 10 ppb, DCAA at 0.8 ppb, and the other six HAAs at 0.4 ppb.



Figure 3.10 Overlay of chromatograms (after modification). A: SLMME of spiked water sample containing 8.4 ppb MCAA, 2.4 ppb DCAA, 4.4ppb MBAA, and the other 6 HAAs at 0.4 ppb each; B: direct injection of a standard solution containing nine HAAs at 1ppm each; and C: SLMME of a blank (reagent water). The numbered peaks in the chromatograms are: 1. MCAA, 2. DCAA, 3. MBAA, 4. BCAA, 5. DBAA, 6. TCAA, 7. BDCAA, 8. CDBAA, and 9. TBAA.

HAAs	LDR	(µg/L)	MDL (µg/L)		
	Before	After	Before	After	
MCAA	20-160	8.4-160	7.69	2.69	
DCAA	10-80	2.4-160	2.00	0.25	
MBAA	0.8-20	4.4-160	0.21	0.23	
BCAA	0.4-20	0.4-160	0.09	0.04	
DBAA	0.4-20	0.4-160	0.10	0.06	
TCAA	0.4-20	0.4-160	0.05	0.05	
BDCAA	0.4-20	0.4-160	0.12	0.02	
CDBAA	0.4-20	0.4-160	0.12	0.02	
TBAA	0.4-20	0.4-160	0.08	0.03	

Table 3.4 Comparison of LDR and MDL Before and After Modification

SLMME followed by HPLC-UV analysis was developed for the extraction, concentration, and determination of nine HAAs in water. It was simple, sensitive, fast, used only a few microliters of organic solvent per sample, and did not require any derivatization. Enrichment factors in the range of 300- 3000 were obtained in a 60-minute extraction. The extract was directly analyzed by HPLC within 15 minutes. A large number of samples can be extracted simultaneously to increase the sample throughput. This method showed high precision, and the detection limits were lower than or comparable to those by the standard EPA methods. It is possible to use a new membrane for each extraction, so that the extraction is free of memory effects, and the membrane life is not a concern. This approach offers an attractive alternative to the current US EPA standard methods for HAA analysis, which require complex sample preparation and derivatization prior to GC-ECD detection.

CHAPTER 4

MICROFLUIDIC SUPPORTED LIQUID MEMBRANE EXTRACTION

4.1 Introduction

There has been much interest in the miniaturization of analytical instrumentation because it offers advantages, such as, inexpensive mass production and low reagent consumption. The possibility of parallel processing on a single substrate is also attractive, as it increases analytical throughput. A typical lab-on-a-chip application would involve the integration of multiple sample preparation and analytical functionalities, such as, mixing, reactions, extraction, separation and detection [104]. Microfluidic devices, which have one or more micron scale (less than 1000 μ m) channels have been used in such applications; an advantage of such devices is their large surface to volume ratios.

Membrane extraction has been used in a variety of analytical applications in recent years [12-75, 105-106]. Typical membrane extraction involves the flow of sample on one side (referred to as the donor) of the membrane, while an extractant (gas or liquid) flows on the other side (referred to as the acceptor), and the analytes selectively permeate across the membrane. Since the donor and the acceptor can flow continuously, this approach offers the unique advantage of selective extraction on a continuous basis. Membranes have been interfaced with GC, HPLC, MS, CE, and other analytical instruments for continuous on-line monitoring [19-25].

Supported liquid membrane (SLM) extraction is an excellent technique for selective removal of ionizable and polar compounds from aqueous samples [107]. It is a

three-phase system, where the analytes are extracted from a water sample into an aqueous acceptor through an organic extractant held in the pores of the membrane by capillary action. The analytes on one side of the membrane are maintained at a pH where they are uncharged, and can be extracted into the organic phase in the membrane pores. On the other side of the membrane is a solution at a different pH, into which the analytes are back-extracted in their charged forms [37]. Typical SLM extraction modules have been made using flat membranes in a flow cell [18-20], or using multiple parallel hollow fibers in a shell-and-tube format [15-16, 24-27, 42, 61, 105-106, 108-112].

The ionic nature of environmental acids makes them a suitable candidate for the analysis by SLM. Haloacetic acids (HAAs) are an important regulated group of the disinfection by-products formed during the chlorination of drinking water [93]. Current USEPA approved methods for HAAs analysis involve cumbersome liquid-liquid extraction and derivatization followed by GC-ECD detection [94-96]. These methods consume significant amounts of reagents, and the overall analysis time is approximately four hours per sample. In a previous study, we reported the extraction of HAAs by supported liquid membrane micro-extraction [29]. Analysis of this type would benefit significantly from the development of miniature devices that can reduce solvent consumption and the extraction time.

The objective of this study is to develop a microfluidic extraction system for SLM. A device such as this can find other lab-on-a-chip applications as well. Although it is tested with HAAs, it can be used for any ionizable analyte including metals.

4.2 Experimental Section

4.2.1 Reagents

Nine standard solutions were purchased from Supelco (Supelco Park, PA, US), each containing an individual HAA. Acetonitrile used in HPLC analysis was HPLC grade (Fisher Scientific, NJ, USA). All other chemicals used in this study were ACS reagent grade (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO, US). Deionized water was obtained from a Milli-Q[®] water purification system (Millipore Co., Bedford, MA, US).

4.2.2 Experimental System and Microfluidic SLM Modules

The schematic diagram and a photograph of the microfluidic SLM is shown in Figure 4.1 and 4.2, respectively. It includes an extraction module and two micro syringe pumps (Cole Parmer 74900) for liquid delivery. The first pump was used to deliver the water sample, and the other for the acceptor solution. The HAAs were extracted through the membrane liquid, and enriched into the acceptor. The extract was collected into a vial insert and then injected into the HPLC directly without any derivatization. Alternately, the extract could be also collected in the sample loop of a HPLC injector for direct on-line analysis.

The components of the microfluidic SLM module are shown in Figure 4.3 a, b and c. The acceptor and the donor flowed in the micro-channels fabricated on two separate polycarbonate wafers. The wafers were sandwiched with the membrane in between to form the SLM module (Figure 4.3a). The rectangular channels were micro-machined using a vertical milling machine (Bridgeport Machine Company, Bridgeport, CT, USA). The machining was carried out at 2750 rpm at the approximate rate of 1/4" per minute. A serpentine shape allowed long channels to be fabricated in a small area. Alternate



Figure 4.1 Schematic diagram of microfluidic SLME.


Figure 4.2 Photograph of microfluidic SLME (Module C).

fabrication techniquse such as lithography, or laser ablation could also be used to produce this type of micro-channels. The channels for the flow of the two phases mirrored each other so that they could be face to face. Steel capillaries with a 250 μ m I.D. were glued into the channels to serve as the inlets and outlets. Three microfluidic SLM modules (Module A, B and C) with different dimensions were designed and fabricated, Module A being the largest and C the smallest. The details of these SLM modules are listed in Table 4.1. The width and depth were between 100 to 1000 μ m. The width of the donor and the acceptor channels were always the same, but the depth varied as shown in Figure 4.3b. The ratio of the donor and the acceptor volume was close to 8 for modules B and C. A size comparison of the micro channels and a U.S. quarter is shown in Figure 4.3c.



Figure 4.3 Details of the microfluidic SLM modules:

a. Microfluidic SLM module showing the acceptor and the donor channels with the membrane in between.

b. Cross-sectional view of the two channels (Module C)

c. Photograph of the micro channels (Module C), a U.S. quarter is presented for size comparison.

	Module A	Module B	Module C
Length of microfluidic channel (cm)	22.8	40.2	11.1
Width of micro channel (µm)	1000	750	750
Surface area of micro channels (cm ²)	2.28	3.02	0.83
Depth of donor channel (µm)	1000	750	750
Depth of acceptor channel (µm)	1000	100	100
Volume of donor channel (μ L)	228	226	62
Volume of acceptor channel (µL)	228	30	8
Membrane surface area (cm ²)	9	6	2.25
Maximum EF	10	65	54
Maximum EE (%)	16	34	50

 Table 4.1 Dimensions of the Three Microfluidic SLM Modules

The flat sheet membrane used in this study was Celgard[®] 2400 microporous polypropylene membrane (Hoechst Celanese, Charlotte, NC, US). It had an average thickness of 25 micron, the pore size was 0.05 μ m, and 38% of the surface was porous.

4.2.3 Procedures

The supported liquid membrane was made by soaking a small piece of membrane in 5% trioctylphosphine oxide (TOPO) in di-hexyl ether (DHE) for 10 minutes. A few microliters of membrane liquid was consumed for each soakage. The supported liquid membrane was then fixed between the polycarbonate blocks, forming the two channels (one serving as the donor and the other as the acceptor). Screws or clamps were used to make a leak-free seal in the case of reusable devices. Epoxy could also be used to bond the two wafers, but these devices could not be reused, as the membrane could not be replaced.

The sample containing the HAAs (donor), which was acidified by concentrated sulfuric acid to pH –0.3, flowed on one side of the membrane; while the acceptor, 0.05 M tris buffer (pH 10) was either held static or flowed counter-current on the other side. The donor and acceptor conditions have been optimized in our previous study [29]. The HAAs from the water sample were extracted into the membrane liquid held in the membrane pores, and then back-extracted into the acceptor in their ionic forms. The enriched acceptor was collected and injected into the HPLC for analysis.

The chromatographic separation was carried out by a Hewlett-Packard 1050 HPLC equipped with a Waters 486 Tunable Absorbance UV detector, which was set at 210 nm. The HPLC column used was a 150 mm × 4.6 mm I.D. YMC ODS-A C18 column with 3 μ m packing. The HPLC mobile phase was 95:5 (v/v) 15 mM KH₂PO₄ buffer (pH 2.24) and acetonitrile with a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min. Complete separation of the nine HAAs was

achieved within 13 minutes. Minichrom V 1.62 software (VG Data System) was used for data acquisition and analysis.

4.3 Results and Discussion

The two important considerations were the enrichment factor (EF) and the extraction efficiency (EE). EF was determined as the ratio of the analyte concentration in the extract to that in the original donor:

$$EF = \frac{C_a}{C_d} \tag{4.1}$$

 C_a was the analyte concentration in the acceptor; C_d was the analyte concentration in the donor. Extraction efficiency (EE) was determined as the fraction of analyte in the acceptor to that in the donor [14].

$$EE = \frac{n_a}{n_d} = \frac{C_a \times V_a}{C_d \times V_d} = EF \times \frac{V_a}{V_d}$$
(4.2)

 n_a and n_d were the total mass of analyte in the acceptor and the donor, V_a and V_d were the volumes of the acceptor exiting the membrane and the donor entering, respectively. In the continuous flowing system,

$$V_d = F_d \times t \tag{4.3}$$

Where, F_d was the flow rate of the water entering the microfluidic SLM module, and t was the run time. In SLM extraction, the acceptor was an aqueous phase and its loss was negligible, thus, the acceptor volume could be expressed as:

$$V_a = F_a \times t \tag{4.4}$$

where, F_a was the flow rate of the acceptor. Consequently equation (4.2) reduced to:

$$EE = EF \times \frac{F_a}{F_d} \tag{4.5}$$

If the acceptor was held stagnant, EE was expressed as:

$$EE = EF \times \frac{V_a}{F_d \times t} \tag{4.6}$$

where, V_a was the acceptor channel volume.

4.3.1 The Effect of Acceptor to Donor Ratio

The objective was to maximize EF, which was determined by the concentration gradient across the membrane and the volume ratio of the donor to the acceptor. A larger ratio provided a higher concentration factor. EFs from modules A and B were compared; the latter had a higher donor to acceptor ratio. The aqueous sample contained 1 μ g/mL of the nine HAAs. The donor flow rate was 0.126 mL/min, while the acceptor (0.05 M tris buffer pH 10) was held static for 30 min before being collected for analysis. The results are shown in Figure 4.4 The EFs of the HAAs on Module A were from 3 to 5, while those on Module B were from 9 to 16. In Module B, the volumetric ratio of donor and acceptor was increased by having a shallower acceptor channel, as the width of the channels had to match for complete cross-channel permeation. This resulted in a more concentrated extract when the same amount of the aqueous sample was introduced into the two modules. Based on this observation, Module A was not used in subsequent experiments.



Figure 4.4 The effect of acceptor-to-donor ratio on the enrichment factor, the donor flow rate was 0.126 ml/min and the acceptor was stagnant for 30 min.

4.3.2 Static Versus Dynamic Acceptor

The extraction could be carried out in static, or in dynamic mode. In the former, the acceptor was not replenished as it continued to accumulate the analytes, and in the latter it flowed continuously. The effect of the acceptor status on EF and EE% was studied with Module B. The sample flow rate was 126 μ L/min in both modes. In the static mode, the water sample flowed for 30 min before the extract was collected. In the dynamic mode, the acceptor flowed at 4.4 μ L/min. The results are presented in Table 4.2. The EF varied from 9 to 13 in the static mode, and from 7 to 10 in the dynamic mode. The higher EF in the former was due to the smaller acceptor volume used. However, there was a big difference in EE by these two methods. The EE in the static mode varied from 7 to 11%, while in the

dynamic mode it ranged from 26 to 34%. The higher EE in the dynamic mode partially compensated for dilution to a large acceptor volume. In general, it was observed that the extraction could be carried out by either approach.

		Static [®] Mode		Dynamic ^{**} Mode	
Names	Abbreviations	EF	EE%	EF	EE%
Monochloroacetic acid	MCAA	10.46	8.58	8.36	29.20
Dichloroacetic acid	DCAA	13.52	11.08	9.78	34.08
Monobromoacetic acid	MBAA	9.42	7.72	7.56	26.40
Bromochloroacetic acid	BCAA	14.92	12.24	9.59	33.50
Dibromoacetic acid	DBAA	12.96	10.63	9.05	31.61
Trichloroacetic acid	TCAA	13.39	10.98	8.63	30.12
Bromodichloroacetic acid	BDCAA	12.07	9.90	8.34	29.13
Chlorodibromoacetic acid	CDBAA	11.42	9.37	7.87	27.47
Tribromoacetic acid	TBAA	10.54	8.64	8.02	28.01

 Table 4.2 Static versus Dynamic Extraction using Module B

^{*}The acceptor was held static for 30 min before being collected for analysis.

 ** The acceptor flow rate was 4.4 $\mu L/min.$ The donor flow rate was 0.126 mL/min for both extraction modes.

4.3.3 Effect of the Flow Rates

The effect of the donor flow rate on EF and EE was studied with Modules B and C. The flow rate of the acceptor was kept constant at 4.4 μ L/min with Module B and 2.64 μ L/min with Module C. EF and EE (%), as a function of the donor flow rate is shown for the nine HAAs in Figure 4.5 and 4.6, respectively. EF increased with the donor flow rate. As more analytes contacted the membrane, more were extracted, leading to a higher EF. However, a larger fraction went unextracted, consequently EE decreased. These changes were consistent with Equations (4.7) and (4.8).



Figure 4.5 EF and EE% as a function of donor flow rate with Module B, the acceptor flow rate was kept constant at 4.4 μ L/min.





Figure 4.6 EF and EE (%) as a function of donor flow rate with Module C, the acceptor flow rate was kept constant at 2.64 μ L/min.

60

The effect of the acceptor flow rate on EF and EE was also studied with modules B and C. With Module B the water sample flow rate was constant at 504 μ L/min, while the acceptor flow rate was varied from 2.64 to 8.8 μ L/min. With Module C the donor flow rate was kept constant at 126 μ L/min while the acceptor flow rate varied from 0.88 to 2.64 μ L/min. EF and EE (%) as functions of the acceptor flow rate with Module B and C are shown in Figure 4.7 and 4.8, respectively. EF decreased significantly with the increase of the acceptor flow rate, which also could be predicted by equation (4.8). At a lower flow rate, the acceptor volume was smaller, thus the analytes were more concentrated, leading to a higher EF. The effect of acceptor flow on EE was not significant. It appeared to increase marginally in the case of Module C. A lower acceptor flow rate increased the contact time, leading to a favorable EE.





Figure 4.7 EF and EE% as a function of acceptor flow rate with Module B, the donor flow rate was kept constant at 0.504 ml/min.

62





Figure 4.8 EF and EE (%) as a function of acceptor flow rate with Module C, the donor flow rate was kept constant at 0.126 mL/min.

Peak area as a function of experiment running time on Module B is show in Figure 4.9. The donor was an acidified water sample (5.6% H₂SO₄) containing 8 µg/ml MCAA and 1 µg/ml of the rest eight of HAAs. The donor flow rate was 0.504 ml/min. The acceptor was 0.05 M tris buffer (pH10) at a flow rate of 2.64 µl/min. As one can see, the peak area stopped increasing 45 min after the experiment started, in other words it needs 45 min to reach the extraction equilibrium.



Figure 4.9 Peak area as a function of experiment running time, the donor flow rate was 0.504 ml/min and the acceptor flow rate was 2.64 µl/min.

64

4.3.4 Analytical Performance

The supported liquid membranes were stable for three weeks, after which they needed regeneration with the membrane liquid. Consequently the lifetime of the devices was long enough to be used either as a disposable or a re-usable device. Washing the membrane with the acceptor solution for two or three minutes between each run could eliminate the memory effect of the SLM.

The performance of Module B and C were comparable. As presented in Table 4.1, the maximum EF on Module C was 54 as compared to 65 on Module B. Analytical performance was tested with Module B. Chromatograms of a standard containing 10 μ g/mL nine HAAs, and another after microfluidic SLM extraction of a water sample of 1 μ g/ml of 9 HAAs are shown in Figure 4.10. The maximum EF and EE achieved with the three micro-fluidic SLM extraction modules are listed in Table 4.1. The data presented here were obtained in the dynamic mode. Based on the previous discussion, the EF (subsequently the detection limits) would have been higher in the static mode.

The linear dynamic ranges, regression coefficients (\mathbb{R}^2), relative standard deviations (RSDs) and method detection limits (MDLs) are listed in Table 4.3. Being very polar, MCAA (log P of 0.22) showed performance that was not at par with the rest of the HAAs. This was consistent with the previous observation [29]. The detection limits determined by the standard EPA procedure [113] were at the ng/mL level, with six of them between 2.23 to 4.24 ng/mL. MDLs of MCAA, DCAA and MBAA were higher due to their high polarity (log P being less than 1). The response was linear with a fairly large linear dynamic range, the regression coefficient (\mathbb{R}^2) were between 0.9895 and 0.9996. RSDs based on seven replicates were between 3.56 and 8.54 %.



Figure 4.10 HPLC analysis of HAAs: a) Chromatogram of a standard containing $10 \mu g/mL$ of the nine HAAs, b) Chromatogram after microfluidic-SLME of a water sample containing $1 \mu g/mL$ of nine HAAs.

HAAs	Log P*	Linear	Regression	RSD (%)	MDL
		Dynamic	Coefficient (R ²)		(ng/mL)
		Range (ng/mL)			
MCAA	0.22	400-20000	0.9987	8.54	106.87
DCAA	0.92	50-10000	0.9996	6.72	10.52
MBAA	0.41	100-5000	0.9995	7.95	24.87
BCAA	1.14	20-2000	0.9979	6.31	3.95
DBAA	1.69	20-2000	0.9980	6.77	4.24
TCAA	1.33	20-2000	0.9936	6.50	4.07
BDCAA	2.31	20-2000	0.9941	4.14	2.59
CDBAA	2.91	20-2000	0.9930	4.59	2.88
TBAA	3.46	20-2000	0.9895	3.56	2.23

 Table 4.3 Analytical Performance of Module B

^L Log P: Octanol-water partition coefficient [29].

** MDLs were obtained with a water sample containing 400 ng/mL MCAA, 50 ng/mL DCAA, 100 ng/mL MBAA, and 20 ng/mL rest 6 HAAs.

4.4 Conclusion

Miniaturized supported liquid membrane extraction followed by HPLC-UV detection was designed and fabricated for sample enrichment. Microfluidic SLM modules with acceptor and donor channels of different depths were machined and the effects on the extraction performance were compared. Modules with shallower acceptor channels provided higher enrichment. With Module B enrichment factors as high as 65 were obtained along with relatively large linearity range and high precision. This micro-fluidic device can be integrated with other lab-on-a-chip components to develop a total analytical system (TAS).

SECTION B:

AUTOMATED, ON-LINE MEMBRANE EXTRACTION

CHAPTER 5

CONTINUOUS, ON-LINE MONITORING OF HALOACETIC ACIDS VIA MEMBRANE EXTRACTION

5.1 Introduction

The importance of the detection of haloacetic acids (HAAs) in water has been described in Chapter 3. We have reported an off-line method, supported liquid membrane micro-extraction, for the extraction and enrichment of nine HAAs in water [29]. However, currently there is no method for continuous, on-line monitoring of all of the nine HAAs. Automated online measurements are less expensive, provide real-time information and have better accuracy and precision [114]. Since there is less manual sample handling, these techniques tend to be less prone to contamination. Therefore the development of a continuous on-line method is needed. The goal of this study is to develop a novel automated method for such purposes.

Membrane extraction has recently emerged as a promising technique for sample enrichment. It has several advantages, such as simple instrumentation, requiring small solvent volumes and offering high enrichment factors. It allows continuous online extraction in a flow system, and can be coupled to a GC [15-17], HPLC [18-20, 24-26], mass spectrometry (MS) [21] and CE [23] for continuous on-line monitoring. There are two major approaches for membrane extraction, supported liquid membrane extraction (SLME) and liquid-liquid membrane extraction (LLME) [14]. SLME is a three-phase extraction system, where the analytes are extracted from an aqueous sample into an acceptor via an organic extractant held in the pores of the membrane. It works well for the extraction of highly polar and ionizable compounds [37]. Recently, we have reported supported liquid membrane micro-extraction (SLMME) for the extraction of HAAs from water [29]. This technique provides high enrichment and relatively short analysis time. LLME is a two-phase system, where the analytes are extracted from an aqueous sample into an organic acceptor. Here, the organic solvent contacts the water sample across the membrane without direct mixing. Another advantage of the membrane interface is that there is no emulsion formation, which is a common occurrence in conventional liquid-liquid extraction.

The objective of this study is to develop a membrane extraction technique for continuous on-line monitoring of HAAs. Both continuous LLME and SLME followed by HPLC-UV detection were investigated in this research.

5.2 Experimental Section

The instrumentation used for SLME and LLME were quite similar and is shown in Figure 5.1. It includes a hollow fiber membrane module, two pumps and a HPLC system. The first pump (a Hewlett-Packard 1050 HPLC pump) was used for the delivery of the acceptor, and the other (a Beckman 110B pump) for the donor. An automated six-port HPLC injection valve (Valco Instruments Co. Inc., Houston TX, USA) was used to make repeat injections into the HPLC (Hewlett-Packard 1050) with a tunable absorbance UV detector (Waters 486). The wavelength was set at 210 nm. Donor flowed on the shell side of the membrane module, while the acceptor flowed inside the hollow fiber lumens. This approach has been described before [18-21]. The HAAs in the donor were extracted and enriched into the acceptor. The extract was injected (20 μ L injection volume) into the HPLC for analysis. Minichrom V 1.62 software (VG Data System) was used for data acquisition.

Nine individual HAAs were purchased from Supelco (Supelco Park, PA, USA). All other chemicals used in this study were ACS reagent grade (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO, USA). Deionized water was obtained from a Milli-Q[®] water purification system (Millipore Co., Bedford, MA, USA).

5.2.1 Continuous Liquid-Liquid Membrane Extraction

The membrane module for LLME was made by packing six pieces of 100 cm long composite hollow fiber membranes into a PTFE tube. Each end of the tube was connected to a tee union (Supelco Inc., PA, USA). Epoxy (Resin Technology Group, LLC, S. Easton, MA, USA) was used to seal the space between the membranes and the tee, preventing the mixing of water and the acceptor. The membrane used was Celgard X10 (Hoechst Celanese, Charlotte, NC, USA) with an I.D. of 0.240 mm and an O.D. of 0.290 mm, which was made of polypropylene. The acceptor used in LLME was 99.8% methyl tert-butyl ether (MTBE) (Fluka, Milwaukee, WI, USA). The HPLC column was a 3.9 mm I.D., 150 mm long Waters Resolve C_{18} with 5 μ m spherical packing (Waters, Milford, MA, USA). The HPLC mobile phase was a 0.4 M ammonium sulfate solution and the flow programming was as follows: flow rate was held constant at 0.5 mL/min during the first five minutes, and was then increased gradually to 2.0 mL/min in the next three minutes, the flow rate was kept constant at that level between 8 to 13 minute.



Figure 5.1 Schematic diagram of continuous membrane extraction followed by HPLC-UV detection.

5.2.2 Continuous Supported Liquid Membrane Extraction

The membrane module for SLME was made by packing three pieces of 130 cm long hollow fiber membranes into a PTFE tube. The membrane was Celgard X20 (Hoechst Celanese, Charlotte, NC, USA). It had an I.D. of 400 μ m and an O.D. of 460 μ m, with an average pore size of 0.03 μ m and porosity of 40%. The membranes were soaked in the membrane liquid, 5% trioctylphosphine oxide in dihexyl ether, which was optimized in a previous study [30] before the analysis. The HPLC column used here was a 150 mm × 4.6 mm YMC ODS-A C₁₈ column with 3 μ m packing. The HPLC mobile phase was 95:5 (v/v) 15 mM KH₂PO₄ (pH 2.2): Acetonitrile at a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min.

The membrane module can be regenerated in this way: first, clean the membrane by flowing the acceptor, then dry it with nitrogen, and finally soak with the membrane liquid.

5.3 Results and Discussions

5.3.1 Continuous Liquid-Liquid Membrane Extraction

Continuous LLME was carried out across the hollow fiber. The donor consisted of 0.12 μ g/mL (ppm) MCAA and DCAA, 0.08 ppm MBAA, BCAA and BDCAA, 0.04 ppm DBAA and TCAA, 0.2 ppm CDBAA and 0.4 ppm TBAA. The acceptor was 99.8% methyl tert-butyl ether (MTBE). During HPLC analysis MTBE co-eluted with CDBAA and TBAA. Consequently, only seven of the HAAs could be quantified. An enrichment factor of about 50 was achieved. However, the objective of this study was to develop a method for continuous on-line monitoring of all the nine HAAs at trace levels, thus continuous SLME was investigated in the following study.

5.3.2 Continuous Supported Liquid Membrane Extraction

SLME was carried out by two different modes: stop-and-flow SLME and continuous SLME. The former is a semi-static approach and is referred to as SF-SLME. In SF-SLME, the donor flows continuously while the acceptor is held stagnant, and then collected after a certain period. The donor contained 83.2 µg/L (ppb) of nine HAAs. Sulfuric acid (0.26%) was added to the donor to keep the acids in their uncharged molecular form. The donor was pumped at the rate of 1 mL/min for 60 minutes. The acceptor used here was 0.01 M sodium hydroxide (NaOH). The acceptor was stagnant in the membrane lumens. The membrane module was made by packing two pieces 128 cm Celgard X20 hollow fiber membranes into a PTFE tube. The internal volume of the membrane lumens was 0.322 mL. The membrane was soaked with 5 % trioctylphosphine oxide (TOPO) in dihexyl ether (DHE) before extraction. After extraction, the acceptor was pumped at 0.1 mL/min and collected into HPLC vial inserts every minute. Results are shown in Figure 5.2. The EF was found to decrease with time. The concentration gradient in the acceptor along the length of the hollow fiber was evident. The concentration was higher in the static acceptor segment near the entrance point of the donor, which corresponded to the exit point of the acceptor. During counter-current contact across the membrane, the entering donor had high concentration and it first contacted the extract near the acceptor outlet and the extraction was initiated. As it flowed further, and toward the acceptor inlet, its concentration decreased. Consequently, the extract near the donor inlet was more enriched than that near the outlet.

SF-SLME provided a higher enrichment factor but lower extraction efficiency as the acceptor solution was kept stagnant in the hollow fiber lumens. There existed a concentration gradient in the acceptor for the SF-SLME. Shorter membrane fibers may decrease the concentration gradient across the hollow fiber.



Figure 5.2 EF as a function of acceptor collecting time, the donor was flowed at 1 ml/min for 60 minutes, while the acceptor was kept stagnant in the membrane lumens. After the extraction the acceptor was pumped to flow at 0.1 ml/min. The acceptor exiting the membrane module was collected at 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} minute.

To obtain real-time information, both the donor and acceptor need to flow continuously, which is referred as continuous SLME. In continuous SLME, the donor contained 80 ng/mL (ppb) of the nine HAAs in DI water, which was acidified with sulfuric acid to pH 1.9. The donor pH is acceptable even though it is somewhat higher than the pKa values of the acids, as the protonation equilibrium is dynamic and quite fast. Lower pH

may result in higher extraction efficiency, however very acidic solution is more corrosive, which may destroy the pump. The acceptor was 0.05 M tris buffer adjusted to pH 8.7, which was more than 3.3 units higher than the pKa values that were required to prevent the extracted acids from re-entering the membrane. The membrane module was made of three pieces 130 cm Celgard X20 hollow fiber membranes. The membrane was soaked with 5 % TOPO in DHE prior to use.







Figure 5.4 EE (%) as a function of acceptor flow rate, the donor flow rate was kept constant at 1 ml/min.

The effects of the acceptor flow rate on EF and EE in continuous SLME were studied. The flow rate of the water sample was kept constant at 1 ml/min, while the acceptor flow rate was varied from 0.005 to 0.02 mL/min. It was found that the loss of acceptor during extraction was negligible. Thus the experiment was carried out online with HPLC-UV detection. EF and EE (%) as a function of the acceptor flow rate are shown in Figure 5.3 and 5.4, respectively. EF decreased with the increase in the acceptor flow rate. At a lower flow rate, the contact time was longer and more analytes could be trapped into the acceptor. Moreover, higher acceptor flow rate diluted the extract, so the overall effect was the reduction in EF. According to Equation 4.5, EE increases with the increase of the

EF and the acceptor flow rate, and decreases with the donor flow rate. However, EF decreases with the increase of the acceptor flow rate. In Figure 5.4 the EE increased with acceptor flow rate increase from 0.005 to 0.015 mL/min, then decreased as the acceptor flow rated increased to 0.02 mL/min due to the dramatic decrease of the EF.



Figure 5.5 EF as a function of water sample (Donor) flow rate, the flow rate of acceptor was kept constant at 0.005 ml/min.

The effects of the donor flow rate on EF and EE was also studied. The acceptor flow rate was kept constant at 0.005 mL/min, while the donor flow rate increased from 1 to 4 mL/min. EF and EE as a function of the donor flow rate is shown in Figures 5.5 and 5.6. EF increased dramatically as the flow rate of water sample increased from 1 to 4 ml/min.

With a higher donor flow rate, more analytes contacted the membrane, thus resulting in more analytes trapped in the acceptor, which led to higher EF. EE increases with the increase of EF but decreases with the increase of the donor flow rate and is shown in Figure 5.6.



Figure 5.6 EE (%) as a function of water sample (Donor) flow rate, the flow rate of acceptor was kept constant at 0.005 ml/min.

5.3.3 Analytical Performance of Continuous SLME

SLME showed higher EF compared to LLME, and its analytical performance was evaluated. The HAAs in acidified donor were extracted and trapped into the alkaline

79

acceptor. The enriched acceptor was automatically injected into the HPLC-UV system every fifteen minutes by automated injection valve. Sequential chromatograms were obtained and shown in Figure 5.7. Good reproducibility in peak shape and retention time was observed.

Relative standard deviations, enrichment factors, extraction efficiencies and method detection limits (MDL) are listed in Table 5.1. The donor used was a water sample (pH 1.9) containing 21 ppb MCAA, 3 ppb MBAA and 1 ppb of each of the other seven HAAs. The donor flow rate was 4 ml/min. The acceptor was 0.05 M tris buffer (pH 8.7) at a flow rate of 0.005 ml/min. Figure 5.8 shows the chromatogram obtained under such low concentrations. The RSDs were between 3.3 and 10.3 % and the MDLs were at sub-ppb levels. The MDL of MCAA was higher than other HAAs. This is because MCAA is a very polar compound and its octanol-water partition coefficient (log P) is considerably lower than the other HAAs. This is consistent with previous observation [25-26].

The memory effect of the membrane was tested by flowing reagent water as the donor. The HAAs concentrations were about 2% of that obtained with a normal experiment. Thus the retention by the membrane itself was minor, and could be eliminated by washing the membranes with the acceptor for one minute. The supported liquid membrane module worked well for about 4 weeks, after which it needed regeneration.



Figure 5.7 Chromatogram of continuous SLME of a water sample (pH 1.9) containing 80 ng/mL (ppb) nine HAAs: 1: MCAA, 2: DCAA, 3: MBAA, 4: BCAA, 5: DBAA, 6: TCAA, 7: BDCAA, 8: CDBAA, and 9: TBAA. The water sample flow rate was 4 mL/min. The acceptor was 0.05 M tris buffer (pH 8.7) at a flow rate of 0.005 mL/min. Injections were made every 15 min.

Table	5.1	Analytical	Performance of	Continuous	SLME-HPL	C
-------	-----	------------	----------------	------------	----------	---

N am es	Abbreviation	Log₽*	pK a*	RSD**	EF	EE	MDL***
				(%)		(%)	(ng/mL)
Monochloroacetic acid	MCAA	0.22	2.87	10.3	71.3	8.9	6.84
Dichloroacetic acid	DCAA	0.92	1.26	10.3	335.5	41 .9	0.32
Monobrom o acetic acid	MBAA	0.41	2.89	3.5	335.9	42.0	0.33
Brom ochloroacetic acid	BCAA	1.14	1.39	4.2	273.6	34.2	0.13
Dibromoacetic acid	DBAA	1.69	1.47	4.8	412.1	51.5	0.15
Trichloroacetic acid	TC AA	1.33	0.51	5.7	383.4	48.0	0.18
Bromodichloroacetic acid	BDCAA	2.31	1.09	5.9	412.3	51.5	0.18
Chlorodibrom oacetic acid	CDBAA	2.91	1.09	3.3	428.4	53.6	0.10
Tribrom oacetic acid	TBAA	3.46	3.13	8.8	305.5	38.2	0.28

*logP values are from Ref. [29].

Relative Standard Deviations (RSD) based on seven replications were obtained with continuous SLME, the water containing 21 ppb MCAA, 3 ppb MBAA, and 1 ppb rest 7 HAAs flowed at 4 mL/min and the acceptor at 0.005 mL/min. *The Method Detection Limits (MDLs) were obtained following a standard EPA procedure [98].



Figure 5.8 Chromatogram of continuous SLME of a water sample (PH 1.9) containing: (1) 21 ppb MCAA, (2) 1 ppb DCAA, (3) 3 ppb MBAA, (4) 1 ppb BCAA, (5) 1ppb DBAA, (6) 1 ppb TCAA, (7) 1 ppb BDCAA, (8) 1 ppb CDBAA, and (9) 1 ppb TBAA. The donor flow rate was 4 ml/min. The acceptor was 0.05 M tris buffer (PH 8.7) with a flow rate of 0.005 ml/min. I1: Injection 1, I2: Injection 2.

5.4 Conclusion

Both LLME and SLME were developed for the continuous analysis of the HAAs. Seven HAAs could be analyzed by LLME and the EF was about 50. Continuous SLME could be used to monitor all of the nine HAAs and enrichment factors were as high as 500 with MDLs at sub-ppb levels. The HPLC method used in continuous SLME is free from the interference of humic acid presented in real-world water. On the whole, continuous SLME was found to be more effective and is recommended for the applications of real-time monitoring of HAAs in water treatment plants.

CHAPTER 6

INTERFACING MEMBRANE EXTRACTION, PERVAPORATION AND HPLC DETECTION INTO AN AUTOMATED TOTAL ANALYTICAL SYSTEM

6.1 Introduction

There has been much interest in integrating different analytical functions onto a single platform. The efforts have been mainly confined to the bio-analytical arena, where procedures, such as, cell lysis, extraction, PCR and electrophoresis have been integrated in a micro total analytical system (μ -TAS) [115-116]. These ideas are equally valid for conventional laboratory techniques. Typical approaches for inorganic, organic, metals and biological analysis involve extraction and concentration followed by analytical detection. The development of a total analytical system (TAS) requires the hyphenation of these steps so that continuous, on-line analysis can be carried out without manual intervention.

Let us take the example of the analysis of semi-volatile organics in water. Liquid-liquid extraction (LLE), solid phase extraction (SPE) and solid phase micro-extraction (SPME) [117-121] are the conventional extraction procedures. Although they have some excellent merits, there exist limitations when it comes to direct interfacing with instruments. Classical LLE is labor intensive, uses large amounts of solvents and is difficult to couple directly to an analytical instrument. LLE coupled with flow injection (FI) analysis was reported for the first time in the late 1970s [122] and since then it has developed quickly [123-125]. It minimizes reagent consumption, and can be carried out continuously followed by on-line or off-line detection. In SPE the analytes are extracted from an aqueous sample onto a solid sorbent, and then eluted with a suitable solvent. It has been automated on-line involving multiple batch processes such as conditioning, washing, and elution [126]. SPME, where the analytes are adsorbed onto a fused-silica coated fiber and then desorbed at a high temperature prior to analysis, is simpler, but only suitable for high concentration analysis due to its low sensitivity. The extracts, especially those from SPE and LLE may need further concentration. Conventional methods for this include nitrogen blowing, rotary evaporator, or Kuderna-Danish concentrators. It is evident that both the extraction and concentration procedures involve several discreet batch operations, and are either time-consuming or labor intensive. Thus automated continuous sampling systems are needed.

In the realm of continuous, on-line extraction procedures, membrane extraction is one of the most promising techniques. It is simple, inexpensive, requires small solvent volumes and offers high enrichment. It allows on-line extraction, and has been coupled to gas chromatography, high performance liquid chromatography, mass spectrometry, GC-MS and other analytical instruments [15-26]. Liquid phase membrane extraction can be classified into supported liquid membrane extraction (SLME) and liquid-liquid membrane extraction (LLME) [14]. SLME is a three-phase system in which the analytes are extracted from an aqueous sample into an acceptor phase via an organic extractant held in the pores of the membrane by capillary force. It is suitable for analyzing highly polar and ionizable compounds. LLME is a two-phase system where the analytes are extracted from an aqueous sample to an organic acceptor. The extraction occurs across a membrane, so that the two phases contact through the membrane pores without direct mixing. LLME can be used in any application as long as the compounds can be extracted into an organic solvent [24, 61, 63]. The driving force in LLME is the partition of analytes between the aqueous phase and the organic acceptor. The presence of the membrane in LLME prevents

emulsion formation, and other complex phenomena due to the physicochemical instability of the organic-aqueous interface, which occurs when the two phases are directly contacted, such as in LLE.

In membrane pervaporation, a liquid mixture contacts a membrane, the volatile species selectively permeate through, and are removed by a vacuum or an inert stripping gas. It has been used in the analysis of volatile organics by selectively stripping them from an aqueous medium [93], and for solvent removal in various industrial applications. In this paper analytical-scale membrane pervaporation was carried out continuously for the removal of solvent from the membrane extraction step. The extract is passed through the lumens of hollow fiber membranes while a counter-current inert gas selectively removes the solvent, resulting in the enrichment of the analytes in the lumens. Temperature is one of the important variables in membrane pervaporation and the temperature effect has been studied in previous research [94], thus it was not investigated in this study.

The objective of this study is to develop an automated and simple TAS by interfacing LLME, membrane pervaporation and HPLC-UV detection. These steps will perform extraction, concentration and detection respectively. The automated TAS will have the capability of continuous on-line monitoring of trace analytes in water.

6.2 Experimental Section

6.2.1 Experimental System

The experimental system is shown in Figure 6.1. It included two hollow fiber membrane modules, two pumps (Hewlett-Packard 1050 HPLC pump) and a HPLC system (Hewlett-Packard 1050). The first pump was used for the delivery of the organic extractant,
and the other for the water sample. An automatic six-port injection valve (Valco Instruments Co. Inc., Houston TX, USA) was used to make repeat injections into the HPLC. The two membrane modules were structurally similar. Hollow fiber membranes were selected because they provided higher surface area per unit volume. The modules were made in the shell and tube format. The first one served as the extraction module, and the latter as the pervaporation module. Water sample flowed through the shell side of the extraction module while the organic extractant flowed inside the hollow fiber lumens. The target analytes from the aqueous sample were extracted into the organic solvent in the membrane pores and then into the acceptor phase in the lumens. The extract continued to flow through the membrane lumen of the pervaporation module, where the nitrogen stripping gas flowed counter-current on the shell side. The evaporation of the solvent into the nitrogen flow concentrated the extract. The enriched extract was injected directly into the HPLC for analysis. The injection volume was 20 μ L, and the injections were made automatically by a timer controlled six-port injection valve every five minutes.

6.2.2 Membrane Module Construction

The hollow fiber membrane modules were made with six pieces of composite membrane fibers packed in a Teflon tube. The length of the membrane used in the extraction and pervaporation modules were 128 and 144 cm respectively. These could be rolled into 3-4" diameter spools. Each end of the Teflon tubing was connected to a tee union (Supelco Inc., PA, USA). Epoxy (Resin Technology Group, LLC, S. Easton, MA, USA) was used to seal the space between the membranes and the tee, thus preventing the mixing of the water sample and the organic extractant. The hollow fiber membrane used in this study was a composite membrane with 0.260 mm O.D. and 0.206 mm I.D. (Applied Membrane

Technology, Minnetonka, MN, USA). It consisted of a 1 micron thick homogeneous siloxane as the active layer deposited on micro-porous polypropylene tubing as the support.

6.2.3 Reagents

The model analytes used in this study were naphthalene and biphenyl, which were purchased from Aldrich Chemicals (Milwaukee, WI, USA). HPLC grade n-hexane (Fisher Scientific, NJ, USA) was selected as the organic extractant. Prior experiments in the laboratory have shown good pervaporation of n-hexane through non-polar membranes [57]. All other chemicals in this study were ACS grade reagents. Deionized water was obtained from a Milli-Q[®] water purification system (Millipore Co., Bedford, MA, USA).

6.2.4 Chromatographic Separation

Chromatographic separation was carried out by a Hewlett-Packard 1050 HPLC with a Waters 486 Tunable Absorbance UV detector. The HPLC column was a 15 cm long Nova-Pack (Waters, Medford, MA, USA) C_{18} column with an I.D. of 3.9 mm. A mixture of 45:55 (v/v) Acetonitrile-10mM K₃PO₄ solutions was used as the mobile phase at a flow rate of 2 mL/min. The absorbance wavelength was set at 254 nm. Minichrom V 1.62 software (VG Data System) was used for data acquisition.



Figure 6.1 On-line interfacing membrane extraction, pervaporation and HPLC-UV detection into a TAS.

6.2.5 Three Experimental Modes

The experiments were carried out in three different experimental modes, namely, 1, 2 and 3. In Mode 1, only the membrane extraction module was used. In Mode 2, both extraction and pervaporation modules were used, but without the flow of stripping gas in the pervaporation step. This limited the solvent loss in the pervaporation step. In Mode 3, the membrane extraction was followed by membrane pervaporation with a flow of stripping gas, which resulted in a large solvent loss and led to a high degree of enrichment. Mode 2 and 3 are referred as the TAS modes. Any prior memory effect in the membranes was eliminated by flowing/washing the hollow fiber membranes with n-hexane for 2 minutes.

6.3 Results and Discussion

Figure 6.2 shows the concept of on-line interfacing of membrane extraction and pervaporation. The organic solvent, which is also referred to the acceptor, flowed inside of the lumens of the hollow fiber membrane extractor, while the water sample (donor) flowed counter-current on the shell side. Analytes were extracted into the organic solvent. Some of the solvent could be lost by dissolving in water, thus concentrating the extract. It has been reported that this preconcentration approach was possible with polar, water-soluble solvents such as butyl acetate and isopropyl acetate, but not with non-polar solvents such as hexane [61]. In this study, pervaporation was used for analyte preconcentration. This approach is more universal and should work with all solvents with reasonable volatility. As the extract flowed in, the stripping gas selectively removed some of the solvent, resulting in a more concentrated extract for HPLC analysis. In general, the combination of the two



Figure 6.2 The concept of membrane extraction and pervaporation.

membrane modules allowed both extraction and concentration to be carried out on-line, and continuously.

6.3.1 Extraction Efficiency and Enrichment Factor

Enrichment factor (EF) is defined as the ratio of analyte concentration in the final extract to that in the original water sample:

$$EF = \frac{C_s}{C_w} \tag{6.1}$$

 C_s is the analyte concentration in the final extract, and C_w is the analyte concentration in the original water sample. A higher EF leads to a higher sensitivity and a lower detection limit. Extraction is usually quantified as extraction efficiency (EE), which is the fraction of analytes removed by the acceptor from the original water sample [14]. EE is computed as:

$$EE = \frac{n_s}{n_w} = \frac{C_s \times V_s}{C_w \times V_w} = EF \times \frac{V_s}{V_w}$$
(6.2)

 n_s and n_w are the analyte mass in the final extract and in the original water sample, V_s and V_w are the volume of the concentrated extract and the original water sample respectively.

In the continuous flowing system, the volume of the water entering in time t is expressed as:

$$V_w = F_w \times t \tag{6.3}$$

where, F_w is the water flow rate. The volume of organic solvent is different throughout the system, as a portion of the solvent is lost during the experiment. It is expressed as:

$$V_{s} = V_{si} - V_{ls} = V_{si} - V_{si} \times L_{s} = V_{si} \times (1 - L_{s})$$
(6.4)

 V_{si} is the initial volume of the organic solvent entering the extraction module while V_{ls} is the solvent lost during the extraction and pervaporation, and L_s is the fraction of the solvent lost. The volume of the organic solvent entering the extraction module over time t is given

$$V_{si} = F_s \times t \tag{6.5}$$

where, F_s is the flow rate of the entering organic solvent. According to equation (6.4) and (6.5) the fraction of the solvent lost can be expressed as:

$$L_s = 1 - \frac{V_s}{F_s \times t} \tag{6.6}$$

Based on equations (6.2), (6.3), (6.4), and (6.5) EE is expressed as:

$$EE = EF \times (1 - L_s) \times \frac{F_s}{F_w}$$
(6.7)

Thus, EE can be computed from the enrichment factor, flow rates of solvent and water sample, and the fraction of the solvent lost.

6.3.2 Comparison of the EF in the Three Experimental Modes

Three different experimental modes (Mode 1, 2 and 3, which were described in Section 2.5) were compared. The donor sample used was $0.5 \ \mu g/mL$ naphthalene and $0.1 \ \mu g/mL$ biphenyl in water. The water sample flow rate was 5 mL/min. The organic solvent (n-hexane) flowed at 0.1 mL/min. The flow rate of the stripping nitrogen in the pervaporation module in Mode 3 was 45 mL/min. The results are shown in Figure 6.3. The EF somewhat increased (less than 2 times) when the pervaporation without nitrogen stripping was coupled to membrane extraction module. The enrichment factor increased significantly (4 to 9 times) in the presence of nitrogen stripping in the pervaporation module. Enrichment factors for naphthalene and biphenyl in Mode 3 were 93 and 188 respectively. The advantage of the TAS is clearly evident.



Figure 6.3 Comparison of EF in the three experimental modes. Mode 1:membrane extraction only; Mode 2: membrane extraction and pervaporation without N₂ stripping; Mode 3: and membrane extraction and pervaporation with a N₂ flow rate of 45 mL/min. In each case the sample contained 0.5 μ g/mL naphthalene (Nap) and 0.1 μ g/mL biphenyl (Bph), the water flow rate was 5 mL/min, and the extractant (n-hexane) flow rate was 0.1 mL/min.

6.3.3 Influence of the Water Sample Flow Rate

The water sample flow rate played an important role in the determination of enrichment factor, extraction efficiency and solvent loss. The experiment was performed in mode 2, the hexane flow rate was kept constant at 0.1 mL/min, while the water flow was changed from 1 to 5 mL/min. The concentration of naphthalene and biphenyl in the water sample was 0.1 μ g/mL. The extract volume at the outlet of the pervaporation module was

measured for time t, and the solvent loss was calculated using equation 6.6. The results are shown in Figure 6.4.



Figure 6.4 EF, EE (%) & Solvent loss (%) as a function of flow rate of the water sample (0.1 μ g/mL Nap and Bph). The extractant flowed at 0.1 mL/min. This was operated in Mode 2.

The EF of naphthalene (Nap) and biphenyl (Bph) increased four times as the water flow increased from 1 to 5 mL/min. With an increased water flow rate, more analytes contacted the membrane, which led to a higher EF. The solvent loss increased slightly with the increase in water flow rate. The extraction efficiency decreased with the increase of water flow rate. Although more analytes were brought in, a larger fraction went unextracted. Higher flow rates were not employed as the high pressure across the membrane could decrease the lifetime of the extraction module. A donor flow rate of 4 mL/min was selected as a compromise between high enrichment and long lifetime.

The organic solvent in the extract could be lost either by dissolution into the aqueous phase or evaporation in the pervaporation module. The poor water solubility of n-hexane and no stripping gas in the pervaporation module resulted in relatively low solvent loss in Mode 2.

6.3.4 Influence of Nitrogen Flow Rate in the Pervaporation Module

The effect of the nitrogen flow in the pervaporation module was tested in mode 3, by varying the nitrogen flow rate from 10 to 60 mL/min. The inlet concentration of naphthalene and biphenyl was $0.1 \ \mu g/mL$. The water and the extraction solvent flow rates were 4 and 0.1 mL/min respectively. EF, EE and solvent loss as a function of N₂ flow rate are shown in Figure 6.5. The EF increased with the N₂ flow rate, which was attributed to higher solvent removal. The EE decreased with the increase in N₂ flow rate as some analyte molecules were lost with the solvent in the pervaporation step. The goal of this study was to achieve higher enrichment, thus nitrogen flow rate of 60 mL/min was selected in the following study.



Figure 6.5 EF, EE (%) and solvent loss (%) as a function of N_2 flow rate. Water sample containing 0.1 µg/mL Nap and Bph flowed at 4 mL/min. The extractant flow rate was 0.1 mL/min. This was operated in Mode 3.

6.3.5 Influence of the Acceptor Flow Rate

The effect of the organic solvent flow rate on EF was tested by operating Mode 3. The nitrogen flow rate was 60 mL/min. The sample contained 0.1 μ g/mL each of naphthalene and biphenyl in water. The water flow rate was constant at 4 ml/min, while the extractant (n-hexane) flow rate was varied from 0.075 to 0.25 mL/min. The whole process was carried out on-line and the extract was injected into the HPLC every five minutes. The results are shown in Figure 6.6.

EF decreased with the increase of the extractant flow rate. At lower flow rate, the contact time of the analytes with the solvent increased, thus more analytes could be extracted. In the pervaporation module also, the lower flow rate led to higher solvent removal, leading to higher EF. At flow rates lower than 0.075 mL/min, all the solvent was lost in the pervaporation module and no extract could be obtained for analysis. Therefore 0.075 mL/min was chosen as the acceptor flow rate. Enrichment factors as high as 192 were obtained under these conditions.



Figure 6.6 EF as a function of the extractant flow rate. The sample containing 0.1 μ g/mL Nap and Bph flowed at 4ml/min. The N₂ flow rate was 60 mL/min. This was operated in Mode 3.

6.3.6 Analytical Performance

Different analyte concentrations were assayed in Mode 3. The flow rates of the water sample, the organic solvent and the stripping nitrogen were 4 ml/min, 0.075 mL/min and 60 mL/min respectively. The linear dynamic ranges were found to be 25-100 and 5-100 ng/mL for naphthalene and biphenyl respectively, with correlation coefficient (\mathbb{R}^2) above 0.998.

Continuous automated monitoring was carried out at a relatively high frequency. The analytes were extracted into the organic solvent (n-hexane) and the solvent was continuously removed from the extract by pervaporation. The enriched extract was injected into the HPLC every five minutes by the automatic six-port injection valve. The sequence of chromatograms obtained during continuous on-line operation is shown in Figure 6.7. The concentration of naphthalene and biphenyl in the water sample was 50 ng/mL. Good reproducibility in peak shape and retention time was observed. The relative standard deviations (RSD) of naphthalene and biphenyl were 3.7% and 5.0% based on seven replicates, measured over three different days. The method detection limits (MDLs), which were obtained following a standard EPA procedure [113], were 5.8 and 7.9 ng/mL for naphthalene and biphenyl respectively.



Figure 6.7 Continuous monitoring of a water sample containing 50 ng/mL Nap and Bph. The flow rates of the water sample, the extractant and the N_2 were 4, 0.075 and 60 mL/min respectively. Automatic injections were made every 5 min at Ini 1. Ini 2 and Ini 3.

6.4 Conclusion

Interfacing on-line membrane extraction, pervaporation and HPLC-UV detection led to the development of a relatively simple and an effective TAS for the on-line monitoring of trace semi-volatile/non-volatile organic compounds. Membrane extraction served as the separation and the initial enrichment step, while pervaporation was used as the final enrichment step. This system demonstrated an enrichment factor as high as 192 and good analytical performance during the continuous monitoring. The important operational variables were the different flow rates, namely, those of the water sample, the solvent and the stripping gas.

REFERENCES

- 1. Pawliszyn, J. (2003). Sample preparation: Quo vadis? <u>Analytical Chemistry, 75</u>, 2543-2558.
- 2. Smith, R. M. (2003). Before the injection-modern methods of sample preparation for separation techniques. Journal of Chromatography A, 1000, 3-27.
- Matz, G., Kibelka, G., Dahl, J., Lennemann, F. (1999). Experimental study on solvent-less sample preparation methods: Membrane extraction with a sorbent interface, thermal membrane desorption application and purge-and-trap. <u>Journal</u> <u>of Chromatography A, 830</u>, 365-376.
- 4. Liska, I. (2000). Fifty years of solid-phase extraction in water analysis-historical development and overview. Journal of Chromatography A, 885, 279-314.
- 5. Ruzicka, J., Hansen, E. H. (1975). Analytica Chimica Acta, 78, 145-157.
- Pyrzynska, K., Trojanowicz, M. (1999). Functionalized cellulose sorbents for preconcentration of trace metals in environmental analysis. <u>Critical Reviews in</u> <u>Analytical Chemistry</u>, 29, 313-321.
- 7. Lord, H., Pawliszyn, J. (2000). Evolution of solid-phase microextraction technology. Journal of Chromatography A, 885, 153-193.
- 8. Baltussen, E., Sandra, P., David F., Cramers, C. (1999). Stir bar sorptive extraction (SBSE), a novel extraction technique for aqueous samples: Theory and principles. Journal of Microcolumn Separations, 11, 737-747.
- 9. Kolahgar, B., Hoffmann, A., Heiden, A.C. (2002). Application of stir bar sorptive extraction to the determination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in aqueous samples. Journal of Chromatography A, 963, 225-230.
- 10. Jeannot, M. A., Cantwell, F. (1996). Solvent microextraction into a single drop. Analytical Chemistry, 68, 2236-2240.
- 11. Ho, W. S. W., Sirkar, K. K. (1992). <u>Membrane Handbook.</u> New York, Van Nostrand Reinhold.
- Moreno Cordero, B., Pérez Pavón, J. L., García Pinto, C., Fernández Laespada M.E., Carabias Martínez, R., Rodríguez Gonzalo, E. (2000). Analytical applications of membrane extraction in chromatography and electrophoresis. <u>Journal of</u> <u>Chromatography A, 902</u>, 195-204.

- Van de Merbel, N. C. (1999). Membrane-based sample preparation coupled on-line to chromatography or electrophoresis. Journal of Chromatography A, 856, 55-82.
- 14. Jonsson, J. A., Mathiasson, L. (2003). Membrane extraction for sample preparation. LCGC North America, 21, 424-429.
- Mitra, S., Zhu, N., Zhang, X., Kebbekus, B. (1996). Continuous monitoring of volatile organic compounds in air emissions using an on-line membrane extraction-microtrap-gas chromatographic system. Journal of Chromatography <u>A, 736</u>, 165-173.
- 16. Kou, D., San Juan, A., Mitra, S. (2001). Gas injection membrane extraction for fast on-line analysis using GC detection. <u>Analytical Chemistry</u>, 73, 5462-5467.
- 17. Shen, Y., Jonsson, J. A., Mathiasson, L. (1998). On-line microporous membrane liquid-liquid extraction for sample pretreatment combined with capillary gas chromatography applied to local anesthetics in blood plasma. <u>Analytical Chemistry, 70</u>, 946-953.
- Jonsson, J. A., Andersson, M., Melander, C., Norberg, J., Thordarson, E., Mathiasson, L. (2000). Automated liquid membrane extraction for highperformance liquid chromatography of Ropivacaine metabolites in urine. Journal of Chromatography A, 870, 151-157.
- 19. Sandahl, M., Mathiasson, L., Jonsson, J. A. (2000). Determination of thiophanatemethyl and its metabolites at trace level in spiked natural water using the supported liquid membrane extraction and the microporous membrane liquidliquid extraction techniques combined on-line with high-performance liquid chromatography. Journal of Chromatography A, 893, 123-131.
- 20. Sandahl, M., Mathiasson, L., Jonsson, J. A. (2002). On-line automated sample preparation for liquid chromatography using parallel supported liquid membrane extraction and microporous membrane liquid-liquid extraction. Journal of Chromatography A, 975, 211-217.
- Ojala, M., Mattila, I., Tarkiainen, V., Sarme, T., Ketola, R. A., Maattanen, A., Kostiainen, R., Kotiaho, T. (2001). Purge-and-membrane mass spectrometry, a screening method for analysis of VOCs from soil samples. <u>Analytical</u> <u>Chemistry, 73</u>, 3624-3631.
- 22. Matz, G., Loogk, M., Lennemann, F. (1998). On-line gas chromatography-mass spectrometry for process monitoring using solvent-free sample preparation. Journal of Chromatography A, 819, 51-60.

- Palmarsdottir, S., Thordarson, E., Edholm, L. E., Jonsson, J. A, Mathiasson, L. (1997). Miniaturized supported liquid membrane device for selective on-line enrichment of basic drugs in plasma combined with capillary zone electrophoresis. <u>Analytical Chemistry</u>, 69, 1732-1737.
- 24. Wang, X., Mitra, S. (2005). Development of a total analytical system (TAS) by interfacing membrane extraction, pervaporation and high-performance liquid chromatography. Journal of Chromatography A, 1068, 237-242.
- 25. Wang, X., Kou, D., Mitra, S. (2005). Continuous on-line monitoring of haloacetic acids via membrane extraction. Journal of Chromatography A, 1089, 39-44.
- Guo X., Mitra, S. (2000). On-line membrane extraction liquid chromatography for monitoring semi-volatile organics in aqueous matrices. <u>Journal of</u> <u>Chromatography A, 904</u>, 189-196.
- 27. Guo X., Mitra, S. (1999). Development of pulse introduction membrane extraction for analysis of volatile organic compounds in individual aqueous samples, and for continuous on-line monitoring. Journal of Chromatography A, 826, 39-47.
- 28. Wang, X., Saridara, C., Mitra, S. (2005). Microfluidic supported liquid membrane extraction. <u>Analytica Chimica Acta</u>, 543, 92-98.
- 29. Kou, D., Wang, X., Mitra, S. (2004). Supported liquid membrane microextraction with high-performance liquid chromatography-UV detection for monitoring trace haloacetic acids in water. Journal of Chromatography A, 1055, 63-69.
- 30. Wang, X., Mitra, S. (2005). Enhancing Micro-scale Membrane Extraction by Implementing A Barrier Film. <u>Analytical Chemistry</u>, submitted.
- Audunsson, G. A. (1986). Aqueous/aqueous extraction by means of a liquid membrane for sample cleanup and preconcentration of amines in a flow system. <u>Analytical Chemistry</u>, 58, 2714-2723.
- 32. Jonsson, J. A., Mathiasson, L. (1992). Supported liquid membrane techniques for sample preparation and enrichment in environmental and biological analysis. <u>Trends in Analytical Chemistry, 11</u>, 106-114.
- 33. Jonsson, J. A., Mathiasson, L. (2000). Membrane-based techniques for sample enrichment. Journal of Chromatography A, 902, 205-225.
- 34. Shen, Y., Gronberg, L., Jonsson, J. A. (1994). Experimental studies on the enrichment of carboxylic acids with tri-*n*-octylphosphine oxide as extractant in a supported liquid membrane. <u>Analytica Chimica Acta, 292</u>, 31-39.

- 35. Kou, D. (2002). Development of membrane extraction techniques for water quality analysis. <u>Doctoral Dissertation</u>, New Jersey Institute of Technology.
- Jonsson, J. A., Mathiasson, L. (1999). Liquid membrane extraction in analytical sample preparation. II. Applications. <u>Trends in Analytical Chemistry</u>, 18, 325-334.
- 37. Jonsson, J. A., Mathiasson, L. (1999). Liquid membrane extraction in analytical sample preparation. I. Principles. <u>Trends in Analytical Chemistry</u>, 18, 318-325.
- Chimuka, L., Mathiasson, L., Jonsson, J. A. (2000). Role of octanol-water partition coefficients in extraction of ionisable organic compounds in a supported liquid membrane with a stagnant acceptor. <u>Analytica Chimica Acta, 416</u>, 77-86.
- 39. Chimuka, L., Megersa, N., Norberg, J., Mathiasson, L., Jonsson, J. A. (1998). Incomplete trapping in supported liquid membrane extraction with a stagnant acceptor for weak bases. <u>Analytical Chemistry</u>, 70, 3906-3911.
- 40. Melcher, R. G., Bouyoucos, S. A. (1990). Membrane interface for automatic extraction and liquid chromatographic determination of trace organics in aqueous streams. <u>Process Control and Quality, 1</u>, 63-74.
- 41. Morabito, P. L., Melcher, R. G. (1992). Automated membrane/gas chromatographic system for extraction and determination of trace organics in aqueous samples using large volume injection. <u>Process Control and Quality</u>, 3, 35-42.
- 42. Xu, Y., Mitra, S. (1994). Continuous monitoring of volatile organic compounds in water using on-line membrane extraction and microtrap gas chromatography system. Journal of Chromatography A, 688, 171-180.
- 43. Guo, X., Mitra, S. (1998). Development of membrane purge and trap for measurement of volatile organics in water. <u>Analytical Letter, 31</u>, 367-379.
- 44. Knutsson, M., Nilvé, G., Mathiasson, L., Jonsson, J. A. (1996). Supported liquid membranes for sampling and sample preparation of pesticides in water. Journal of Chromatography A, 754, 197-205.
- 45. Nilvé, G., Mathiasson, L., Jonsson, J. A. (1989). Sample preparation by means of a supported liquid membrane for the determination of chlorophenoxyalkanoic acids. Journal of Chromatography, 471, 151-160.
- 46. Nilve G.; Stebbins R. (1991). Automated sample preparation using supported liquid membranes for liquid chromatographic determination of sulfonylurea herbicides. <u>Chromatographia, 32</u>, 269-277.

- 47. Nilvé, G., Knutsson, M., Jonsson, J. A. (1994). Liquid chromatographic determination of sulfonylurea herbicides in natural waters after automated sample pretreatment using supported liquid membranes. Journal of <u>Chromatography A, 668</u>, 75-82.
- 48. Knutsson, M., Mathiasson, L., Jonsson, J. A. (1996). Supported liquid membrane work-up in combination with liquid chromatography and electrochemical detection for the determination of chlorinated phenols in natural water samples. <u>Chromatographia, 42</u>, 165-170.
- 49. Gronberg, L., Shen, Y., Jonsson, J. A. (1993). Ion chromatographic determination of carboxylic acids in air with on-line liquid membrane pretreatment. Journal of Chromatography A, 655, 207-215.
- 50. Shen, Y., Ström, L., Jonsson, J. A., Tyler, G. (1996). Low-molecular organic acids in the rhizosphere soil solution of beech forest (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) cambisols determined by ion chromatography using supported liquid membrane enrichment technique. <u>Soil Biology and Biochemistry</u>, 28, 1163-1169.
- 51. Shen, Y., Obuseng V., Grönberg, L., Jonsson, J. A. (1996). Liquid membrane enrichment for the ion chromatographic determination of carboxylic acids in soil samples. Journal of Chromatography A, 725, 189-197.
- 52. Grönberg, L., Lövkvist, P., Jönsson, J. Å. (1992). Determination of aliphatic amines in air by membrane enrichment directly coupled to a gas chromatography. <u>Chromatographia, 33</u>, 77-82.
- 53. Chimuka, L., Nindi, M. M., Jonsson, J. A. (1997). Supported liquid membrane enrichment studies of natural water samples applied to liquid chromatographic determination of triazine herbicides. <u>International Journal of Environmental</u> <u>Analytical Chemistry</u>, 68, 429-445.
- 54. Megersa, N., Jonsson, J. A. (1998). Trace enrichment and sample preparation of alkylthio-s-triazine herbicides in environmental waters using a supported liquid membrane technique in combination with high-performance liquid chromatography. <u>Analyst, 123</u>, 225-231.
- 55. Trocewicz, J. (1996). Determination of herbicides in surface water by means of a supported liquid membrane technique and high-performance liquid chromatography. Journal of Chromatography A, 725, 121-127.
- 56. Norberg, J., Zander, A., Jonsson, J. A. (1997). Fully automated on-line supported liquid membrane-liquid chromatographic determination of aniline derivates in environmental waters. <u>Chromatographia, 46</u>, 483-488.

- 57. Papantoni, M., Djane, N. K., Ndung'u, K., Jönsson, J. Å., Mathiasson, L. (1995). Trace enrichment of metals using a supported liquid membrane technique. <u>Analyst, 120</u>, 1471-1477.
- Djane, N. K., Ndung'u, K., Malcus, F., Johansson, G., Mathiasson, L. (1997). Supported liquid membrane enrichment using an organophosphorus extractant for analytical trace metal determinations in river waters. <u>Fresenius' Journal of</u> <u>Analytical Chemistry, 358</u>, 822-827.
- 59. Ndung'u, K., Djane, N. K., Mathiasson, L. (1998). Determination of trace metal ions by ion-pair chromatography after enrichment using supported liquid membrane. Journal of Chromatography A, 826, 103-108.
- 60. Miliotis, T., Knutsson, M., Jonsson, J. A., Mathiasson, L. (1996). Ion-pair extraction of aromatic anionic surfactants using the supported liquid membrane technique. International Journal of Environmental Studies A & B, 64, 35-45.
- 61. Kou, D., Mitra, S. (2003). Simultaneous extraction and concentration by on-line hollow fiber membrane extraction. <u>Analytical Chemistry</u>, 75, 6355-6360.
- 62. Carabias Martínez, R., Rodríguez Gonzalo, E., Santiago Toribio, M. P., Hernández Méndez, J. (1996). Determination of triazines in surface waters by membrane separation coupled on-line to a flow-injection system and partial least squares regression. <u>Analytica Chimica Acta, 321</u>, 147-155.
- 63. Norberg, J., Thordarson, E., Mathiasson, L., Jonsson, J. A. (2000). Microporous membrane liquid-liquid extraction coupled on-line with normal-phase liquid chromatography for the determination of cationic surfactants in river and wastewater. Journal of Chromatography A, 869, 523-529.
- 64. Ndung'u, K., Mathiasson, L. (2000). Microporous membrane liquid-liquid extraction technique combined with gas chromatography mass spectrometry for the determination of organotin compounds. <u>Analytica Chimica Acta, 404</u>, 319-328.
- 65. Lindegard, B., Bjork, H., Jonsson, J. A., Mathiasson, L., Olsson, A. M. (1994). Automated column liquid chromatographic determination of a basic drug in blood plasma using the supported liquid membrane technique for sample pretreatment. <u>Analytical Chemistry, 66</u>, 4490-4497.
- 66. Palmarsdottir, S., Mathiasson, L., Jonsson, J. A, Edholm, L. E. (1997). Determination of a basic drug, bambuterol, in human plasma by capillary electrophoresis using double stacking for large volume injection and supported liquid membranes for sample pretreatment. <u>Journal of Chromatography B, 688</u>, 127-134.

- Djane, N. K., Bergdahl, I. A., Ndung'u, K., Schutz, A., Johansson, G., Mathiasson, L. (1997). Supported liquid membrane enrichment combined with atomic absorption spectrometry for the determination of lead in urine. <u>Analyst, 122</u>, 1073-1077.
- 68. Djane, N. K., Ndung'u, K., Johansson, G., Mathiasson, L., Armalis, S., (1997). Supported liquid membrane coupled on-line to potentiometric stripping analysis at a mercury-coated reticulated vitreous carbon electrode for trace metal determinations in urine. <u>Analyst</u>, 123, 393-396.
- 69. Audunsson, G. (1988). Determination of low parts per billion levels of amines in urine by liquid membrane sample cleanup directly coupled to a gas-liquid chromatograph. <u>Analytical Chemistry</u>, 60, 1340-1347.
- 70. Delgado Zamarreno, M. M., Sánchez Pérez, A., Bustamante Rangel, M., Hernández Méndez, J. (1999). Automated analysis for vitamin E in butter by coupling sample treatment – continuous membrane extraction – liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection. <u>Analytica Chimica Acta</u>, 386, 99-106.
- 71. Carabias Martínez, R., Rodríguez Gonzalo, E., Paniagua Marcos, P. H., Hernández Méndez, J. (2000). Analysis of pesticide residues in matrices with high lipid contents by membrane separation coupled on-line to a high-performance liquid chromatography system. Journal of Chromatography A, 869, 427-439.
- Zhu, L., Ee, K. H., Zhao, L., Lee, H. K. (2002). Analysis of phenoxy herbicides in bovine milk by means of liquid-liquid-liquid microextraction with a hollowfiber membrane. <u>Journal of Chromatography A, 963</u>, 335-343.
- 73. Luque-Pérez, E., Ríos, A., Valcárcel, M., Danielsson, L. G., Ingman, F. (1999). Analysis of solid samples using supported liquid membranes: a method for the evaluation of the release of nicotine from Swedish snuff. <u>Analytica Chimica</u> <u>Acta, 387</u>, 155-164.
- Luque, M., Luque-Pérez, E., Ríos, A., Valcárcel, M. (2000). Supported liquid membranes for the determination of vanillin in food samples with amperometric detection. <u>Analytica Chimica Acta</u>, 410, 127-134.
- 75. Luque-Pérez, E., Ríos, A., Valcárcel, M., Danielsson, L. G., Ingman, F. (1999). Spectrophotometric flow injection determination of caffeine in solid and slurry coffee and tea samples using supported liquid membranes. <u>Laboratory</u> <u>Automation & Information Management, 34</u>, 131-142.
- 76. Bruzzoniti, M. C., Sarzanini, C., Mentasti, E. (2000). Preconcentration of contaminants in water analysis. Journal of Chromatography A, 902, 289-309.

- 77. Liu, S., Dasgupta, P. K. (1995). Liquid droplet. A renewable gas sampling interface. Analytical Chemistry, 67, 2042-2049.
- 78. Cardoso, A.A., Dasgupta, P. K. (1995). Analytical chemistry in a liquid film/droplet. Analytical Chemistry, 67, 2562-2566.
- 79. Jeannot, M. A., Cantwell, F. F. (1996). Solvent microextraction into a single drop. Analytical Chemistry, 68, 2236-2240.
- Jeannot, M. A., Cantwell, F. F. (1997). Mass transfer characteristics of solvent extraction into a single drop at the tip of a syringe needle. <u>Analytical Chemistry</u>, <u>69</u>, 235-239.
- He, Y., Lee, H. K. (1997). Liquid-phase microextraction in a single drop of organic solvent by using a conventional microsyringe. <u>Analytical Chemistry</u>, 69, 4634-4640.
- Wang, Y., Yien, C. K., He, Y., Lee, H. K. (1998). Application of dynamic liquidphase microextraction to the analysis of chlorobenzenes in water by using a conventional microsyringe. <u>Analytical Chemistry</u>, 70, 4610-4614.
- Ma, M. H., Cantwell, F. F. (1998). Solvent microextraction with simultaneous backextraction for sample cleanup and preconcentration: Quantitative extraction. <u>Analytical Chemistry</u>, 70, 3912-3919.
- Ma, M. H., Cantwell, F. F. (1999). Solvent microextraction with simultaneous backextraction for sample cleanup and preconcentration: Preconcentration into a single microdrop. <u>Analytical Chemistry</u>, 71, 388-393.
- 85. Genfa, Z., Dasgupta, P. K. (2000). A continuous film-recirculable drop gas-liquid equilibration device. Measurement of trace gaseous ammonia. <u>Analytical Chemistry, 72</u>, 3165-3170.
- 86. Kramer, K. E., Andrews, A. R. J. (2001). Screening method for 11-nor- Δ^9 tetrahydrocannabinol-9-carboxylic acid in urine using hollow fiber membrane solvent microextraction with in-tube derivatization. Journal of Chromatography <u>B, 760, 27-36</u>.
- 87. Rasmussen, K. E., Pedersen-Bjergaard, S. (2004). Developments in hollow fiberbased, liquid-phase microextraction. <u>Trends in Analytical Chemistry, 23</u>, 1-10.
- 88. Zhao, L., Lee, H. K. (2002). Liquid-phase microextraction combined with hollow fiber as a sample preparation technique prior to gas chromatography/mass spectrometry. <u>Analytical Chemistry</u>, 71, 2486-2492.

- 89. Basheer, C., Balasubramanian, R., Lee, H. K. (2003). Determination of organic micropollutants in rainwater using hollow fiber membrane/liquid-phase microextraction combined with gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography A, 1016, 11-20.
- 90. Pedersen-Bjergaard, S., Rasmussen, K. E. (1999). Liquid-liquid-liquid microextraction for sample preparation of biological fluids prior to capillary electrophoresis. Analytical Chemistry, 71, 2650-2656.
- 91. Kim, J., Chung, Y., Shin, D., Kim, M., Lee, Y., Lim, Y., Lee, D. (2003). Chlorination by-products in surface water treatment process. <u>Desalination, 151</u>, 1-9.
- Shukairy, H. M., Milter, R. J., Scott, S. R. J. (1994). Bromide's effect on DBP formation, and control, part 1: ozonation. <u>American Water Works Association</u>, <u>86</u>, 72-87.
- 93. Fed. Register, July 29, (1994b). 59, 33832.
- 94. Hodgeson, J. W., Collins, J., Barth, R. E. (1990). Determination of haloacetic acids and dalapon in drinking water by liquid-solid extraction and gas chromatography with electron capture detection. <u>EPA Method 552</u>.
- 95. Hodgeson, J. W., Becker, D. (1992). Determination of haloacetic acids and dalapon in drinking water by liquid-solid extraction and gas chromatography with electron capture detection. <u>EPA Method 552.1</u>.
- 96. Munch, D. J., Munch, J. W., Pawlecki, A. M. (1995). Determination of haloacetic acids and dalapon in drinking water by liquid-liquid extraction, derivatization and gas chromatography with electron capture detection. <u>EPA Method 552.2</u>.
- 97. Husain, S., Narsimha, R., Alvi, S. N., Rao, R. N. (1992). Monitoring the effluents of the trichloroacetic acid process by high-performance liquid chromatography. Journal of Chromatography A, 600, 316-319.
- 98. Carrero, H., Rusling, J. F. (1999). Analysis of haloacetic acid mixtures by HPLC using an electrochemical detector coated with a surfactant-nafion film. <u>Talanta</u>, <u>48</u>, 711-718.
- 99. Nair, L. M., Saari-Nordhaus, R., Anderson, J. M. (1994). Determination of haloacetic acids by ion chromatography. Journal of Chromatography A, 671, 309-313.
- 100. Lopez-Avila, V., Liu, Y., Charan, C. (1999). Determination of haloacetic acids in water by ion chromatography—method development. Journal of AOAC International, 82, 689-704.

- 101. Sarzanini, C., Bruzzoniti, M. C., Mentasti, E. (1999). Preconcentration and separation of haloacetic acids by ion chromatography. Journal of <u>Chromatography A, 850</u>, 197-211.
- 102. Martinez, D., Borrull, F., Calull, M. (1998). Comparative study of a solid-phase extraction system coupled to capillary electrophoresis in the determination of haloacetic compounds in tap water. <u>Journal of Chromatography A, 827</u>, 105-112.
- Ells, B., Barnett, D. A., Purves, R. W., Guevremont, R. (2000). Detection of nine chlorinated and brominated haloacetic acids at part-per-trillion levels using ESI-FAIMS-MS. <u>Analytical Chemistry</u>, 72, 4555-4559.
- 104. Sato, K., Hibara, A., Tokeshi, M., Hisamoto, H., Kitamori, T. (2003). Microchipbased chemical and biochemical analysis systems. <u>Advanced Drug Delivery</u> <u>Reviews, 55</u>, 379-391.
- 105. Guo X., Mitra S. (1999). Theoretical analysis of non-steady-state, pulse introduction membrane extraction with a sorbent trap interface for gas chromatographic detection. <u>Analytical Chemistry</u>, 71, 4587-4593.
- Guo X., Mitra S. (1999). Enhancement of extraction efficiency and reduction of boundary layer effects in pulse introduction membrane extraction. <u>Analytical</u> <u>Chemistry, 71</u>, 4407-4412.
- 107. Megersa, N., Solomon, T., Jonsson, J. A. (1999). Supported liquid membrane extraction for sample work-up and preconcentration of methoxy-*s*-triazine herbicides in a flow system. Journal of Chromatography A, 830, 203-210.
- 108. Vane, L. M., Alvarez, F. R., Mullins, B. (2001). Removal of methyl *tert*-butyl ether from water by pervaporation: bench- and pilot-scale evaluations. Environmental Science & Technology, 35, 391-397.
- 109. Bishop, E. J., Mitra, S. (2004). Hollow fiber membrane concentrator for on-line preconcentration. Journal of Chromatography A, 1046, 11-17.
- Breembroek, G. R. M., van Straalen, A., Witkamp, G. J., van Rosmalen, G. M. (1998). Extraction of cadmium and copper using hollow fiber supported liquid membranes. Journal of Membrane Science, 146, 185-195.
- Rosell, A., Palet, C., Valiente, M. (1997). Selective separation and concentration of vanadium (V) by a chemical pumping hollow-fiber supported liquid membrane. Analytica Chimica Acta, 349, 171-178.

- 112. Fu, S., Mastuyama, H., Teramoto, M. (2004). Ce (III) recovery by supported liquid membrane using polyethylene hollow fiber prepared via thermally induced phase separation <u>Separation and Purification Technology</u>, <u>36</u>, 17-22.
- 113. Code Fed. Register. (1994). Part 136, Appendix B.
- 114. Sánchez-Pérez, A., Delgado-Zamarreño, M. M., Bustamante-Rangel, M., Hernández-Méndez, J. (2000). Automated analysis of vitamin E isomers in vegetable oils by continuous membrane extraction and liquid chromatography– electrochemical detection. Journal of Chromatography A, 881, 229-241.
- 115. Brivio, M., Fokkens, R. H., Verboom, W., Reinhoudt, D. N., Tas, N. R., Goedbloed, M., van den Berg, A. (2002). Integrated microfluidic system enabling (bio) chemical reactions with on-line MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. <u>Analytical Chemistry, 72</u>, 3972-3976.
- 116. Schilling, E. A., Kamholz, A. E., Yager, P. (2002). Cell lysis and protein extraction in a microfluidic device with detection by a fluorogenic enzyme assay. Analytical Chemistry, 72, 1798-1804.
- Muccio, A. D., Rizzica, M., Ausili, A., Camoni, I., Dommarco, R., Vergori, F. (1988). Selective, on-column extraction of organochlorine pesticide residues from milk. Journal of Chromatography A, 456, 143-148.
- 118. Manes, J., Font, G., Pico, Y. (1993). Evaluation of a solid-phase extraction system for determining pesticide residues in milk. Journal of Chromatography A, 642, 195-204.
- 119. Magdic, S., Pawliszyn J. B. (1996). Analysis of organochlorine pesticides using solid-phase microextraction. Journal of Chromatography A, 723, 111-122.
- 120. Pages, B. D., Lacroix, G. (1997). Application of solid-phase microextraction to the headspace gas chromatographic analysis of semi-volatile organochlorine contaminants in aqueous matrices. Journal of Chromatography A, 757, 173-182.
- 121. Aguilar, C., Penalver, S., Pocurull, E., Borrull, F., Marce, R. M. (1998). Solidphase microextraction and gas chromatography with mass spectrometric detection for the determination of pesticides in aqueous samples. <u>Journal of</u> Chromatography A, 795, 105-115.
- 122. Karlberg, B., Thelander, S. (1978). Extraction based on the flow-injection principle: Part I. Description of the Extraction System. <u>Analytica Chimica Acta</u>, <u>78</u>, 1-7.
- 123. Anthemidis, A. N., Zachariadis, G. A., Farastelis, C. G., Stratis, J. A. (2004). Online liquid-liquid extraction system using a new phase separator for flame

atomic absorption spectrometric determination of ultra-trace cadmium in natural waters. <u>Talanta, 62</u>, 437-443.

- 124. Alonso, A., Almendral, M. J., Báez, M. D., Porras, M. J., López Lavín, F., García de María, C. (2000). Determination of bismuth in pharmaceutical products using liquid-liquid extraction in a flow injection system. <u>Analytica Chimica Acta</u>, <u>408</u>, 129-133.
- 125. Priego-Capote, F., Luque de Castro, M. D. (2003). Ultrasound-assisted continuous liquid–liquid extraction without phase separation and hydrolysis of paracetamol in suppositories. <u>Analytica Chimica Acta, 408</u>, 223-232.
- 126. McLoughlin, D. A., Olah, T. V., Gilbert, J. D. (1997). A direct technique for the simultaneous determination of 10 drug candidates in plasma by liquid chromatography-atmospheric pressure chemical ionization mass spectrometry interfaced to a prospect solid-phase extraction system. Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis, 15, 1893-1901.